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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Strategic report

This strategic report has been prepared for Inspired Education Holdings Limited and its subsidiary undertakings
(‘Inspired’ or ‘the Group’) as a whole and therefore gives greater emphasis to those matters which are significant to the
Group when viewed as a whole.

Principal activity

The principal activity of the Group is to provide private education services across the world,

Review of the business
The Consolidated statement of comprehensive income is set out on pages 17 and 18.

The Directors are delighted with the underlying performance of the Group, demonstrating a strong recovery from the
COVID-19 pandemic, with enrolments increasing 23%; revenue increasing 24%; profit for the year increasing 105.3%;
EBITDA before highlighted items increasing 30%, and Adjusted EBITDA increasing 32% year on year. Refer appendix
1 for definitions of EBITDA before highlighted items and Adjusted EBITDA.

A reconciliation from profit for the year to EBITDA before highlighted items is included below.

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021

€000 €000
Profit for the year 52,656 25,649
Tax 25,395 14,227
Profit before tax 78,051 39,876
Net finance costs 58,884 53,468
Amortisation 27,940 19,076
Depreciation 51,278 48,858
EBITDA 216,153 161,278
Pre-opening/start-up operating loss 3,004 2,452
Acquisition and transaction related costs 15,299 7,632
Litigation costs 278 -
Loss on the disposal or closure of a subsidiary 4,404 244
Restructuring and integration costs 768 3,393
FX gains / {losses) arising on financing and derivatives on
acquisitions and disposals (22,595) -
Gain on bargain purchase (401 -
Gain on disposal of associate through step-acquisition - (8,064)
EBITDA before highlighted items 216916 166,935

Revenue for the year ended 31 August 2022 was €657.5 million (2021: €528.4 million) and profit before tax was
€78.1 million (2021: €39.9 million). These numbers do not include the full year impact of acquisitions completed during
the year and are pricr to the adjustment of highlighted items.

The Group’s net assets as at 31 August 2022 were €841.6 million (31 August 2021; €565.2 million), The increase in
reported net assets in the current year is a result of profit for the year, issue of new shares, and 2 movement in foreign
exchange rates against the Euro, which has increased the reported value of the Group’s non-Euro denominated balances,
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Strategic report (continued)

Business combinations

During the current year, the Group made the following acquisitions:

On 12 May 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Nido di SLS, a business operating a pre-school in ltaly,
for total consideration of €2.0 million.

On 17 May 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Centro de Formacion Mestral S.L., a business operating
a school in Spain, for total consideration of €11.7 mitlion.

On 19 May 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Miran S.A, a business operating a school in Spain, for
total consideration of €25.0 million.

On 13 June 2022, the Group acquired 76% of the shares in Institut Khalil Jabran S.A, a business operating a school
in Morocco, for total consideration of MAD 62.5 million (€6.0 million).

On 23 June 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in Escolas Globais do Brasil S.A., a business operating a
group of schools in Brazil, for total consideration of BRL 1,623 million (€296.1 million).

Acquisitions of non- controlling interests

On 14 December 2021, the Group acquired an additional 45% of the shares in Socieduca — Sociedade De Educacao,
SA (“St Peters”) for consideration of €20.0 million, taking the ownership to 100%.

On 29 December 2021, as a result of a capital reduction of Kensington Schocl SA, the Group increased its ownership
in the Company from 99.4% to 100%.

Disposal of subsidiaries

On 7 June 2022, the Group disposed of its investment in Ostaz Holdings Limited for consideration of €0.0 million.

A loss on disposal of €4.4 million, largely reflecting the goodwill that was previously recognised on acquisition of the
business, has been recognised as a result of the sale.

(7S]
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Strategic report (continued)

Financing activities

On 10 June 2022, the Group increased its Term Loan borrowing by €250 million, taking the total Term Loan outstanding
to €1,045 million. The proceeds from the additional borrowings were used to fund various acquisitions and provide
additional liquidity to the business. The Group’s committed revolving credit facility remained unchanged at €85 million
during the year and was increased by €70 million to €155 million on 2 September 2022.

A number of small local loan facilities were acquired during the year as part of business acquired during the year. Refer
to note 18 for further detail.

The Group hedged its exposure to interest rates during the year by acquiring forward starting floating to fixed interest
rates swaps to cover the interest payable on its €1,045 million for the period from 1 December 2022 to 31 May 2024.

Share capital movements

Issue of new shares

In May 2022, Stonepeak, a leading alternative investment firm specializing In infrastructure and real assets, made a
€1.0bn minority equity investment in the Company. As part of this investment, €150 million of new shares were issued.

Inspired Education Holdings Limited (‘the Company’) issued the following ordinary shares during the year:

Date Class of shares Number of shares issued Consideration
6 September 2021 G4 46,397 €0.0 million
25 October 2021 G4 319,972 €0.0 million
31 January 2022 G4 7,692 €0.0 million
10 March 2022 G4 69,107' €0.0 million
20 May 2022 H 900,000! €0.0 million
20 May 2022 Bl 457,461 €150.0 million

! Issued to the Employee Benefit Trust

Share buy-backs
The Company bought back the following ordinary shares during the year:

Date Class of shares Number of shares Consideration
purchased

20 May 2022 Cl 118,667 €0.0 million

20 May 2022 Cc2 143,027 €0.0 million

20 May 2022 D 171,636 €0.0 million

Other transfers to / from the Emplovee Benefit Trust

On 4 April 2022, 33,704 G Ordinary shares, 40,121 G2 Class Ordinary shares, 19,949 G3 Class Ordinary shares and
19,949 G4 Ordinary shares were transferred by existing shareholders into the Employee Benefit Trust for consideration
of €0.0 million.

On 20 May 2022, the Employee Benefit Trust sold 48,301 G Ordinary shares and 46,662 (G2 Class Ordinary shares for
consideration of €4.4 million,

On 28 June 2022, 94,853 G2 Ordinary shares and 7,692 G4 Ordinary shares were transferred by existing shareholders
into the Employee Benefit Trust for consideration of €0.0 million.
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Strategic report (continued)

Share re-designations

On 20 May 2022, the Company redesignated the following shares:

Previous number of Previous class New number of shares

New class of shares

shares of shares

255,208 A Ordinary 255,208 B1 Ordinary
28,278 B2 Ordinary 28,278 B1 Ordinary
15,533 C1 Ordinary 15,533 B1 Ordinary
21,114 C2 Ordinary 21,114 B1 Ordinary
109,493 C3 Ordinary 109,493 B1 Ordinary
387,543 D Ordinary 387,543 B1 Ordinary
1,194,229 E Ordinary 1,194,229 B1 Ordinary
634,142 E2 Ordinary 634,142 B1 Ordinary
10,000 F Ordinary 1 B1 Ordinary
482,799 G Ordinary 48 B1 Ordinary
1,269,968 G2 Ordinary 127 B1 Ordinary
853,814 G3 Ordinary 86 B1 Ordinary
643,065 G4 Ordinary 64 B1 Ordinary
433,330 F Ordinary 433,330 A2 Ordinary

Key performance indicators

The Group uses a range of key performance indicators (KPIs) to monitor performance and progress towards strategic
objectives. The principal KPIs include: Revenue, Profit for the year, Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation (EBITDA); EBITDA before highlighted items; Adjusted EBITDA; and pupil enrolments. Management review
segment results on the basis of EBITDA before highlighted items and central cosis.

An analysis of these KPIs is provided in the table below:

2022 2021
Revenue €°000 657,460 528,356
Profit for the year €000 52,656 25,649
EBITDA €000 216,153 161,278
EBITDA before highlighted items €000 216,910 166,935
Adjusted EBITDA €000 171,573 129,791
Period end pupil enrolments 64,430 52,305

These numbers do not include the full year impact of acquisitions completed during each year,

The KPls above reflect the continued growth of the Group during the year, including the full year impact of acquisitions
made during 2021 {with the exception of Ostaz Holdings Limited which was disposed of in 2022); part year impact of
acquisitions made in 2022; and organic revenue and margin growth.

EBITDA

EBITDA represents profit before tax, interest, depreciation, and amortisation. A reconciliation from profit before tax to
EBITDA is provided above.
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Strategic report (continued)

EBITDA before highlighted items

The Directors assess the profitability of the Group on a basis (as defined in Appendix 1) which excludes highlighted
items (such as but not limited to pre-opening or start-up results for greenfield investments; acquisition-related transaction
costs; and restructuring costs). The Group’s ‘EBITDA before highlighted items' for the year was €216.9 million (2021:
€166.9 million), or a Highlighted EBITDA Margin of 32.9% (2021: 31.6%), which represents growth of 30% versus
2021,

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as EBITDA before highlighted items, less cash payments for property and other
leases. A reconciliation from EBITDA before highlighted items is as follows:

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

Aungust 2022 August 2021

€°000 €000

EBITDA before highlighted items 216,910 166,935
Cash payments on leases (45,337) (37,144)
Adjusted EBITDA 171,573 129,791

The Group’s adjusted EBITDA is monitored by the Directors as it is considered a key KPJ for the Group’s shareholders
and lenders. The Group’s Adjusted EBITDA for the year was €171.6 million (2021: €129.8 million), or an Adjusted
EBITDA margin of 26.1% (2021: 24.6%), which represents growth of 32% versus 2021,
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Strategic report (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of business and financial risks. The Group has mechanisms in place that seck
to [imit the adverse impacts of these risks on the financial performance of the Group.

Market risk - enrolmenis

The Group’s financial performance is dependent on new students enrolling, and re-enrolment of existing students. The
Group actively looks to invest in, and improve, service quality and customer offerings which, together with established
strong customer relationships, combine to mitigate pupil enrolment risk. Actual and forecast enrolments are monitored on
a weekly basis. Continual investment and improvements are made in group, regional and local marketing and admissions
processes and procedures.

As part of the Group’s disaster recovery planning, the Group introduced a number of remote learning solutions to mitigate
against the impact of any unforeseen closure of school premises, as was experienced as part of the COVID-19 pandemic.
The provision of such solutions allows the Group to continue to deliver its primary principal activity of delivering education
services.

Employee risk

The continued success of the Group is dependent on the quality of its teachers and staff. The Group continually reviews its
HR practices, including personal development and reward structures, to improve the retention of key staff, and attract high
quality new staff members.

Regulatory risk

The Group has to comply with various licence and other regulatory requirements to continue its operations. These
requirements are continually monitored by local, regional and Group representatives from Health & Safety, Education and
other operations to ensure continued compliance.

COVID-19 / Pandemic risk

The safety and well-being of our students and employees is our primary priority. Whilst any future closure of physical
school sites will have an impact on the level of ancillary income that the Group earns, the delivery of live streamed teacher
led classes ensures that the schools continue to deliver tuition to all of our students.

Credit risk

Trade receivables consist of a widespread customer base, with no concentration of risk,

Liguidity risk

The Group actively manages its finances, including conducting regular cash flow forecasts, and ensuring availability of

sufficient cash balances and sources of longer-term debt, to ensure that the Group has sufficient funds available for its
operations.
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Strategic report (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Interest rate cash flow risk

The Group has both interest-bearing assets and liabilities. The interest-bearing assets and liabilities are principally cash
balances and borrowings, subject to floating interest rates. Exposures to interest rate risk are continually monitored.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group entered into forward starting interest rate swaps to fix the interest payable
under its €1,045 million Term Loan B debt from December 2022 to 31 May 2024.

Foreign exchange risk

Much of the Group’s foreign exchange exposure is mitigated through local currency denominated expenses providing a
natural hedge to local currency denominated revenues.

During the year ended 31 August 2022, foreign exchange instruments were used to manage the foreign exchange risk of
the Euro translated value of consideration payable in Brazilian Real for the acquisition of Escolas Globais do Brasil S.A.

The Directors keep these measures under constant review.

Corporate governance

The Group is committed to good governance appropriate for a Group of its size in order to run its business effectively and
ensure it can manage risk appropriately.

Statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1) Companies Act 2006

tnspired has a clearly defined organic growth strategy, supported by accretive acquisitions. The strategy is supported
through documented operational business goals and objectives that are communicated with employees and other relevant
stakeholders.

Decisions made by the Directors during the year ended 31 August 2022 included the approval of issue of shares to
Stonepeak, the EBT and employees; approval of the acquisitions of Eleva, Miranda, KGS, Nido and Mestral, and disposal
of Ostaz; approval of €250m additional borrowings drawn; approval of acquisition of interest rate swaps; and approval of
various staff restructuring activities.

Our decisions are made to have a long-term beneficial impact on the Company and to contribute to the Company’s success
in delivering a better quality education for our students. Our decisions take into account the impact of the Company's
operations on the community and environment, and our wider societal responsibilities.

The Board of Directors consider that in the decisions taken during the year, they have acted in a way they consider, in good
faith, would be most likely to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole, having regard
to (amongst other matters):

—the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

— the interests of the Group’s employees;

— the need to foster the Company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;

— the impact of the Company’s operations on the community and the environment;

— the desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct; and
—the need to act fairly between members of the Group.

The Board reviews material new contracts (such as acquisition agreements, refinance transactions), to ensure that the
appropriate level of diligence has been performed in understanding the obligations, risks and terms. This enables the
Company to protect the integrity and long-term sustainability of its business, to meet its strategic objectives and to create
value for its shareholders, customers and suppliers.

Our intention is to behave responsibly and ensure that management operate the business in a responsible manner, operating
within the high standards of business conduct and good governance expected for a business such as ours.

Our employees are fundamental to the delivery of our plan. We aim to be a responsible employer in our approach to the
pay and benefits our employees receive. The health, safety and well-being of our employees is one of our primary
considerations in the way we do business. The Company also has in place an equity ownership structure for certain senior
management in the Group that aligns management’s remuneration to the long-term sustainable success of the Group.
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Strategic report (continued)

Statement by the directors in performance of their statutory duties in accordance with s172(1) Companies Act 2006
(continued)

The Group eperates a zero-tolerance approach to modern slavery and human tracking, Further information is available on
our website.

We also aim to act responsibly and fairly in how we engage and co-operate with all of our other primary stakeholders - our
customers, suppliers, communities, government regulators, debt providers, and shareholders - all of whom are integral to
the success of the Group.

The Board is committed to social responsibility, community engagement and environmental sustainability. It achieves this
through its commitment to a cullture of ensuring the safety, health and wellbeing of everyone who works in the Group;
creating positive environmental and social impact; and valuing and respecting all staff.

The Group’s website {(www.inspirededu.com), and social media channels provide extensive and up-to-date news on recent
developments.

Future developments

The Directors expect the general level of activity to continue to increase in the forthcoming year. This is a result of
continued growth in enrolments and fee revenue, and the full year impact of new acquisitions made during the current
year.

The Directors consider that the Group remains well placed to mitigate against the risks arising from the current high
inflationary environment across the world, and to benefit from any future rebounds in the macro-economic environment.
Post balance sheet events

On 2 September 2022, the Group’s committed revolving credit facility was increased by €70 million to €155 million.

On 19 October 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of CPD Ballito School (Pty) Ltd, for consideration
of Rand 95.1 millicn (€5.3 million). The company owns the land and buildings used by the Reddam House Ballito school
in South Africa.

On 15 November 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of My Online Schooling Ltd, a company operating
a global online school, for provisional consideration of £7.4 million (€8.5 million).

On 29 November 2022, the Employee Benefit Trust sold 709,902 H Ordinary shares for consideration of €0.3 million.

On 1 December 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Balboa Academy S.A, a company operating a
school in Panama, for provisional consideration of USD 36.0 million (€36.3 million).

On 6 December 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Escola Vitruviano Ltda, a company operating a
school in Brazil, for provisional consideration of BRL 120 million (€21.8 million).

On !4 December 2022, the Company issued 6,984 H Ordinary shares for consideration of €0.0 million.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Registered Office:
N M Nsouli Sixth Floor
Director 3 Burlington Gardens
London
Date: 16 December 2022 WI1S 3EP
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Directors’ report

The Directors present their annual report and audited financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2022.

The financial statements are for Inspired Education Holdings Limited (“the Company™) and its subsidiary undertakings
(together, “the Group™).

Future developments

Details of future developments can be found in the Strategic report on page 9 and form part of this report by cross-
reference.

Events after the balance sheet date

Details of significant events since the balance sheet date are contained in the Strategic report on page 9 and in Note 33
to the financial statements.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

Details of financial risk management objectives and policies are contained in the Strategic report on page 3 and in
Note 32 to the financial statements.

Dividends
The Directors do not propose the payment of a dividend for the year (2021: €Nil).
Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the future forecast cash requirements of the Group; its ability to draw down on its loan
facilities; and its ability to meet the debt covenants, and consider that there are no material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt about Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors have therefore adopted the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Refer to Note 3 for further information.

Directors

The following Directors have, uniess otherwise stated, held office throughout the year and up to the date of approval of this
report:

N M Nsouli

C G Parkin

G R G Crawford

A Sarma

I Stoyanov

R Rishani

N Wergan (appointed 23 May 2022)
N Woloszezuk {appointed 23 May 2022)

Directors’ indemnities

The Group has made qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors and Directors of
subsidiary entities, which were made during the year and remain in force at the date of this report.

Political contributions
No political donations were made during the year (2021: €Nil).
Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the
applicant concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled every effort is made to ensure that their
employment with the Group continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is the policy of the Group and the
Company that the training, career development and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical
to that of other employees.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Employee consultation

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has continued to keep them informed on
matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group and the
Company. This is achieved through formal and informal meetings, and regular consultation with employee
representatives on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future interests. Any significant employee related
issues are discussed at board meetings.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reporting

[n accordance with The Companies {Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report)
Regulations 2018 (“the 2018 Regulations™), thc Group topurls the following information on its greenhouse gas
emissions.

The Group recognises its responsibilities to conserve resources and is committed to continuous improvement in the
environmental impact of its operations. Due to the nature of our business, the Group does not have a high environmental
impact. Qur principal impact comes from the energy we use across our schoo! building facilities. Our focus is on making
our facilities more efficient and obtaining electricity from lower-emission sources including the installation of solar
panels on school sites, as well as education and use of energy saving technology to reduce consumption.

We have reported greenhouse gas emissions for our UK schools. The Group head office building, and UK Online head
office building have not been included as the utilities are provided by the landlord and included in an overall office
rental charge, and therefore information on the exact amounts consumed at these sites are not available.

Primarily, our greenhouse gas emissions arise from using natural gas, electricity, heating oil and water which are Scope
2 emissions and waste disposal which falls within Scope 3 emissions.

The table below shows the total emissions for the UK Group:

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Total GHG
Emissions
Description Unit Total Emissions factor (Tonnes COze)
Annual Gas usage kWh 1,262,746 0.1825 231
Annual Electricity usage kWh 1,017,160 0.1934 197
Annual water usage Cubic Metres 55,773 0.1490 8
Waste disposal Tonnes 123 21.2802 3
Heating oil Litres - - -
Total GHG Emissions (Tonnes COze) 439

For the year ended 31 August 2021 (restated)
Total GHG
Emissions
Description Unit Total Emissions factor  (Tonnes COze)
Annual Gas usage kWh 1,393,707 0.1844 257
Annual Electricity usage kWh 1,232,459 0.2123 262
Annual water usage Cubic Metres 43,303 0.1490 6
Waste disposal Tonnes 112 21.2936 2
Heating oil Litres - - -
Total GHG Emissions (Tonnes C(Oze) 527

Intensity ratio

We consider GHG Emissions (expressed in Tonnes of CQO.e) per € million of revenue as the most appropriate KPI for
the Group. The Group’s intensity ratio is the percentage of total GHG emissions to UK school sales revenue (excluding
online revenue). For the year to 31 August 2022 the ratio was 15 (31 August 2021 restated — 20).

The 2021 numbers were restated due to duplicate billing identified during the period.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Auditor
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

e so far as the Director is aware, thete is no relevant audit information of whick the Company's auditor is unaware;
and

e the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himselfherself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act
2006.

Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor of the Group and a resolution to reappoint
will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

N M Nsouli
Director

Date: 16 December 2022

Registered Office:
Sixth Floor

3 Burlington Gardens
London

WIS 3EP
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Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international
accounting standards and the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101
“Reduced Disclosure Framework™. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the
company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:
« select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
* make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
company will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 requires that Directors:
e properly select and apply accounting policies;

s  present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

s provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in 1FRSs are insufficient to
enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s
financial position and financial performance; and

» make an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on
the company’s website. Legistation in the United Kingdom goveming the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

13
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Inspired Education Holdings
Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:

s the financial statements of Inspired Education Holdings Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the
‘group’) give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 August
2022 and of the group’s prefit for the year then ended;

= the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted
international accounting standards;

* the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure
Framework™; and

+  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;

the consolidated and company balance sheets;

the consolidated and company statements of changes in equity;
the consolidated cash flow statement; and

the related notes 1 to 47.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is
applicable law, and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards. The financial reporting framework
that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with {nternational Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s”) Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue as
a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual
report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent
atherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance cenclusion thereon.
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Inspired Education Holdings
Limited (continued)

Our respensibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial
statements themselves. [f, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to infiuence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:
www. fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.

We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment, and reviewed the group’s documentation
of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also enquired of
management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities.

We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the key
laws and regulations that:

s had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These
included the UK Companies Act, pensions legislation, and tax legislation; and

» do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the
group’s ability 1o operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included employment law and health, safety and
environmental legislations.

We discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit teams and relevant internal
specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions, and IT specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist
within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements.

As aresult of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our specific
procedures performed to address them are described below:



Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Inspired Education Holdings
Limited (continued)

*  Acquisition accounting - valuation of identified intangible assets:
& assessment of the competence, independence and methodology of management’s valuation expert;

o assessment of the identification and valuation of the intangible assets through verification of third-party
evidence, comparison to market benchmarks; and

o engaged the involvement of our internal valuation specialists to challenge certain assumptions and
estimates used in management’s valuation models.

e Acquisition accounting - valuation of contingent consideration:

o evaluation of management’s judgement in respect of recognition and measurement of the contingent
consideration in line with the terms set out in the sales and purchase agreement; and

o assessment of post-acquisition events relating to the contingent consideration.

¢  [mpairment of goodwill:

o challenge of management prepared forecasts through comparison with historical performance, market
trends and recent performance;

o checked the mechanical accuracy of management’s impairment models; and
o assessment of the key inputs and assumptions through benchmarking to independent market data.
*  Revenue recognition — accuracy of revenue deferred:

o for a sample of transactions close to the year end, verification of fee invoices, payments and evidence of
the student’s placement at the school to evaluate the amount of revenue deferred; and

o recalculated the amount of deferred income based on evidence obtained to check mechanical accuracy.

[n common with all audits under ISAs (UK}, we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the
risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making
accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business.

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following:

s reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements;

»  performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of
material misstatement due to fraud;

* enquiring of management and external legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, and
instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and

s reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance,

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

e the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
e the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the
directors’ report.



Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Inspired Education Holdings
Limited (continued)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have
not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

s we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

( Dayhson

Kate Darlison FCA (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Statutory Auditor

London, United Kingdom

16 December 2022



Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Revenue

QOperating expenses
Share of results of associates

Operating profit

Gain on disposal of associate through step-acquisition
Gain on bargain purchase

Finance income

Finance costs - other
Finance costs — lease liability

Profit before tax
Tax
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021
Note €000 €000
5 657,460 528,356
(520,926) (444,029)
- 953
136,534 85,280
5 - 8,064
27 401 -
8 1,360 758
8 (34,435) (30,426)
8 (25,809) (23,800)
78,051 39,876
9 (25,395) (14,227}
6 52,636 25,649
51,816 25,929
840 {280)
52,656 25,649




Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2022

Profit for the year

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of net defined benelit lability

Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value gain arising on hedging instruments during the period
Tax credit on fair value movements on cash flow hedges
Exchange gains on translation of foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
Total comprehensive income / (loss) attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Note

30

32

Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August
2022 2021
€000 €000

52,656 25,649
(701) 1,435

55 (203)

(646) 1,232
1,625 -
(406) -
91,946 16,054
93,165 16,054
92,519 17,286
145,175 42,935
144,335 43,215

840 (280)
145,175 42,935




Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Consolidated balance sheet
At 31 August 2022

Not As at 31 As at 31
%% August 2022 August 2021
€°000 €000
Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 1,140,049 813,520
Other intangible assets 11 334,469 283,067
Property, plant and equipment 13 672,438 543,409
Right of yse assets 14 352,895 280,782
Deferred tax assets 19 20,433 18,514
Other non-current assets 12 2,407 112
2,522,691 1,939,404
Current assets
Inventories 16 1,728 1,830
Trade and other receivables 17 114,722 86,291
Cash and bank balances 192,494 111,865
308,944 199,986
Total assets 2,831,635 2,139,390
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 (101,073) (76,818)
Current tax liabilities (9,499) (5,043)
Borrowings 18 (20,709) (22,170)
Lease obligations 14 (23,263) (17,005)
Provisions 21 {5,127) (4,226)
Deferred consideration and consideration payable for non-controlling interests 22 (26,299) (26,252)
Deferred revenue 31 (252,972) (208,765)
(438,942) (360,279)
Net current liabilities (129,998) (160,293)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 (1,067,497) (824,075)
Lease obligations 14 (361,978) (288,838)
Retirement benefit obligations 30 {2,962) (2,143)
Long-term provisions 21 (1,408) (1,386)
Deferred consideration and consideration payable for non-controlling interests 22 (16,148) (5,075)
Deferred revenue 31 {1,464) (63)
Deferred tax liabilities 19 (99,646) (92,336)
(1,551,103)  (1,213,916)
Total liabilities (1,990,045) (1,574,195)
Net assets 841,590 565,195
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Consolidated balance sheet (continued)
At 31 August 2022

Equity

Share capital

Share premium account
Common control reserve
Translation reserve
Other reserves

Hedging reserve
Relained earnings

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Note

23
24
25
25
25
25

26

As at 31 As at 31
August 2022  August 2021
€000 €000
11,017 10,992
717,007 575,993
(25,849) {25,849}
57,755 (35,275}
(18,167) {36,461)
1,219 -
89,923 39,837
832,905 529,237
8,685 35,958
841,590 565,195

The financial statements of Inspired Education Holdings Limited (registered number: 10392529) were approved by

the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 16 December 2022.

They were signed on its behalf by:

N M Nsouli
Director
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Consolidated cash flow statement
For the year ended 31 August 2022

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities

Interest received

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of property, plant and equipment

Cost of internally developed intangible assets
Deferred consideration payments

Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired

Proceeds from sale of business, net of cash disposed

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities

Drawdown of borrowings

Repayments of borrowings

Repayments of lease obligations

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Proceeds on issue of shares, net of share issue costs
Cash flow relating to hedging activities

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Net cash from financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash at beginning of vear

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
Note August August
2022 2021
€000 €000
28 135,572 94,115
1,001 711
879 1,331
(83,151) (50,989}
(5.317) {4,832)
(2,160) (2,049)
27 (314,993) (111,437}
(381) -
(404,123) (167,265)
252,619 113,487
(28,506) (5,992)
(19,527) (13,344)
(20,000) (6,033)
141,473 -
26,865 -
(190) -
352,734 88,118
84,183 14,968
111,865 95,512
(3,554) 1,385
192,454 111,865
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 August 2022

1. General information

Inspired Education Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the
Companies Act 2006. The Company is a private company limited by shares and is registered in England and Wales.
The address of the Company’s registered office is:

Sixth Floor

3 Burlington Gardens
London

WIS 3EP

The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group™) is to provide private education services across
the world.

These financial statements are presented in Euros (the functional currency) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand Euros (€7000) except where otherwise indicated, because that is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Group operates.

2. Adoption of new and revised Standards

In the current year, the Group adopted the following new IFRS standards and amendments issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after
1 January 2021. Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these
financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance coniracts - Extension of the Temporary Fxempiion from
Applying IFRS 9
Amendments to [FRS 9 Financial nstruments, 145 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and

Measurement, RS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, TIFRS 4
Insurance Contracts and IFRS 16 lLeases  Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform (Phuse 2}

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases — Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

2. Adoption of new and revised Standards (continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17

Insurance Coniracts

Amendments to IAS 16

Property, Plunl und Equipment - -Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to [FRS 3

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to IAS 37

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual  Improvements to IFRS

Standards 2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments io IFRS | First-time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, I1FRS 16 Leases, and
148 41 Agriculture

IFRS 10 and TAS 28 (amendments)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Veniure

Amendments to IAS 1

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS

Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to TAS 8

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to TAS 12

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments but do not expect these to have a material impact on

the financial statements.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

3. Significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.
Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted international accounting
standards.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in 1AS 2 Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

« Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 August each year. Control is achieved when the Company:

e has the power over the investee;
* s exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and
e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or mere of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee
unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

s the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

¢  potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
* rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

* any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of consolidation {continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company losses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control or
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

Protit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the
members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. Those interests of
non-controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Other non-controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the
carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-
controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal recognised in profit or loss is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii} the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments when applicable, or the
costs on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee Benefit Trust

Inspired Education Holdings Limited Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT’) is accounted for under IFRS 10 and is
consolidated on the basis that the Company has control, thus the assets and liabilities of the EBT are included on the
consolidated balance sheet of the Company.

The shares held by the EBT are treated as a deduction from shareholders’ funds in the financial statements. Other assets
and liabilities of the EBT are consolidated in the Company’s financial statements as if they were assets and liabilities
of the Company.

Common control accounting

The Company consolidated the results of the Group entities it acquired on 30 November 2016 under common control
accounting, on the basis that both the Company and the entities it acquired were ultimately controlled by the same party
both before and after the combination. The Income Statement effect of common control accounting was to combine the
post acquisition results of the acquired companies with the results of the Company. The Balance Sheet was recognised
in the consolidation at book values, rather than fair value. No goodwill was recognised under this method of accounting.
The surplus of consideration over the acquired net assets was recognised directly in equity within the Common Control
reserve account.

Going concern

The Group meets its day-to-day working capital requirements through various bank facilities in place. Afier reviewing
the future forecast cash requirements of the Group in the context of the Group’s performance, profits and cash flows,
ability to draw down on its loan facilities, and forecast future covenant compliance, the Directors have, at the time of
approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

In considering the forecast trading performance of the Company and the Group, the Directors have considered the
impact of global macro factors including any future COVID-19 or other pandemic outbreak. This assessment recognises
the inherent uncertainty associated with any forecasting, and, whilst the Directors believe that trading performance will
remain robust, the scenarios prepared have included consideration of the impact on the Group’s forecast trading
performance and resulting cash flows of closure of school premises as required by regional or national level lockdowns
in the countries in which Inspired’s schools are located.

In assessing the appropriateness of the going concern assumption, the Directors have considered the ability of the Group
to meet the debt covenants and maintain adequate liquidity through the forecast period. At 31 August 2022, the Group
has cash of €192.5 million. At the date of signing these financial statements, following the payments for acquisitions
noted in Note 33 ‘Events after the balance sheet date’ as well as other capital expenditures and other working capital
movemeunts, the Group has cash of €144.0 million, and access to committed undrawn loan facilities of €128 million.
The principal loan facilities in the Group are not repayable until 2025 and 2026. The Group’s forecasts and projections,
taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the Group is able to operate
comfortably within the level of its current facilities and meet its debt covenant obligation.

Sensitivities have been modelled to understand the impact of the various risks outlined in the Strategic Report on the
Group’s cash headroom. Given the ability of the Group to deliver its core tuition services remotely if required, at the
date of this report, when taking into account the factors set out above, a shortage of available cash is considered to be
highly unlikely.

The Directors have considered the net current liability position of the Group, which is driven by the significant deferred
revenue balances. As this will not result in a cash funding requirement, the Directors consider that the Group is able to
meet its liabilities as they fall due.

On this basis, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements and that it
remains appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual report and
financial statements.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at
the acquisition date, except that deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with 1AS 12 fncome Taxes and 1AS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. [f, after
reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value
of the acquirer's previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes an asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding
adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates at fair value with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interest in the acquired entity is
remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from its interest in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest were
disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Goodwill
Goodwill is initially recognised and measured as set out above.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) or Group of CGUSs expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. CGUs or Groups of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the CGU may be impaired. If the recoverable
amount of the CGU or Group of CGUs is less than the carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

On disposal of a cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit
or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition and deferred income

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes; in
accordance with the terms of the customer contract.

Revenue is only recognised when a written contract is in place that identifies each party’s rights and performance
obligations regarding the goods or services to be transferred; payment terms are set; and it is considered probable that
the consideration to which the Group is entitled under the contract will be collected.

The vast majority of the Group’s revenug is from contracts with customers relating to annual school tuition fee income
and other related fees from ancillary sources including examinations, school trips, boarding fees, bus transportation and
catering fees. Further revenue is derived from the sales of school uniforms and other academic goods.

The Group considers that the performance obligations relating to tuition and boarding fees, and other regular services
are fulfilled over the course of the academic vear and are recognised as such. Online tuition fees are recognised in the
same manner. Fees relating to examinations and school trips are recognised at the point in time that the examination or
trip takes place as at this point the performance obligation is satisfied. Revenue from the sale of school goods is
recognised at the point of sale as at this point the control of the assets have transferred from the Group to the customer.
Annual registration fees are considered to represent an additional instalment of tuition fees and are therefore recognised
on the same basis as tuition fees. One-off placement / admission fees are deferred to the first academic year a student
attends the school and are recognised over that academic year. The Group has applied a judgement that this represents
the contractual period and hence are recognised in this first year,

Tuition fees are typically billed in advance and can vary across the Group from monthly to annual billing. There are no
financing elements to the contract. The Group only recognises deferred revenue to the extent that payment has been
made or the right to receive payment is unconditional.

Discounts are provided for scholarships, sibling discounts, staff discounts or hardship grants and are allocated to the
contract price in accordance with the relative fair value of the service provided. No judgements are required to allocate
discounts as the contracts are explicit which service they linked with. Discounts are recognised concurrently with the
service that they are related to.

As revenue is only recognised as performance obligations are fulfilled, customers typically have no rights to refunds.
Interest income

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leased assets
The Group as a lessee

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 September 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or contains
a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying
asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the
contract meets three key evaluations which arc whether:

s the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly specified
by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group;

e the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified asset
throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract; and

¢ the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group assesses
whether it has the right to direct *how and for what purpose” the asset is used throughout the period of use.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right of use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet. The
right of use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any
lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date {net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right of use assets on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier
of the end of the useful life of the right of use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right of
use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments unpaid at
that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in
substance fixed}, variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments,

When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right of use asset, or profit and
loss if the right of use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical expedients as
allowed by IFRS 16. Instead of recognising a right of use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the
results and financial position of each Group company are expressed in Euros, which is the functional currency of the
Company, and the presentation currency for the consclidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currercies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

¢ exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future productive
use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest cosis on
those foreign currency borrowings;

e cxchange differences on transactions entered into to hedge certain foreign currency risks where hedge accounting
is applied (see below under financial instruments); and

+ exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation within the consolidated
group for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the foreseeable future (therefore forming part
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and
reclassified from equity to protit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the net investment.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which
case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest become a financial asset),
all of the exchange differences accumulated in a separate component of equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation that does not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed
to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of
the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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3. Significant accounting pelicies (continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are
dealt with as payments to defined contribution schemes where the Group’s obligations under the schemes are equivalent
to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme.

For defined benefit retirement bencefit schemes, the cost ol providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit
Credit Method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end of each reporting period. Remeasurement,
comprising actuarial gains and losses; the effect of the asset ceiling (if applicable); and the return on scheme assets
(excluding interest) are recognised immediately in the balance sheet, with a charge or credit to the statement of
comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Remeasurement recorded in the statement of comprehensive
income is not recycled. Past service cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period of scheme amendment. Net interest
is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. Defined benefit costs are split into

three categories:
e  current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on curtailments and settlements;
s net interest expense or income; and

L4 remeasurement.

The Group presents the first two components of defined benefit costs within Operating expenses in its Statement of
comprehensive income (see Note 30). Curtailments gains and losses are accounted for as past-service cost.

Net interest expense or income is recognised within finance costs (see Note 8).

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the consolidated balance sheet represents the deficit or surplus in the
Group’s defined benefit schemes. Any surplus resulting from this calculation is limited to the present value of any
economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the schemes or reductions in future contributions to the
schemes.

Discretionary contributions made by employees or third patties reduce service cost upon payment of these contributions
to the plan.

When the formal terms of the plans specify that there will be contributions from employees or third parties, the
accounting depends on whether the contributions are linked to service, as follows:

s Ifthe contributions are not linked to services (e.g. contributions are required to reduce a deficit arising from losses
on plan assets or from actuarial losses), they are reflected in the remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability
(asset).

e [f contributions are linked o services, they reduce service costs. For the amount of contribution that is dependent
on the number of years of service, the entity reduces service cost by attributing the contributions to periods of
service using the attribution method required by LAS 19:70 for the gross benefits. For the amount of contribution
that is independent of the number of years of service, the entity reduces service cost in the period in which the
related service is rendered.
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Taxation

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the comyputation of taxable profit, and is
accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination} of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit,

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foresceable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future,

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settied or the asset
is realised based on tax laws and rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. Deferred
tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited in other
comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is alsc dealt with in other comprehensive income.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner
in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

34



Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Current tax and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost iess accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment loss.

Assets in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes not yet
determined, are carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of property, plant and equipment, less their residual values, over
their useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Buildings 8 - 50 years
Leaschold improvements 5 - 50 years
Fixtures & fittings 3 - 10 years
Computer equipment 1 -5 years
Other equipment 1 - 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 - 8 years

Frechold land and assets under construction are not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or scrappage of an asset
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Costs associated with the development of identifiable software are recognised as intangible assets. Costs are capitalised
from the point that the asset first meets the recognition criteria, and are reviewed for impairment until the asset is
completed, after which point the costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, on the following bases:

Customer relationships 5-15 years
Brand 10 years to indefinite life
Software 3-5Syears

A number of Brands are considered to have an indefinite useful life, and accordingly are not subject to amortisation
but are reviewed annually for impairment.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, ar when no future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss {if any). Where the asset
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Group ¢stimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
Group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

An intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment at least annually and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Investments in associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is recognised initially in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at cost,
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee becomes
an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill} is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal} with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.

Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with TAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consoclidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate
that are not related to the Group.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using first in first out method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solety payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI):

» the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual
cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

s  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss
allowance.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at
FVTPL.
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Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.
Specifically:

+ Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent consideration arising from a business combination
as at FVTOCI on initial recognition,

& Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified as at FVTPL.
In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost criteria or the FVTQCI criteria may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency (so called ‘accounting mismatch”) that would arise from measuring
assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. The Group has not
designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset and is included in the ‘operating expenses’ line item.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been affected.

Provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to recover balances
in full. The Group applies the I[FRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables and contract assets. The expected loss rates are based on the payment
profiles of sales over a historic period and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information. Balances are written off when the
possibility of recovery is assessed as being remote.

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the
carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, on derecognition
of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTQCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in
equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or
loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred
to retained earnings.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabtlities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’® or at amortised cost.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration that may be
paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading, or (iii} it is designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability
and is included in the ‘operating expenses” line item in the income statement. Fair value is determined in the manner
described in Note 32.

Financial ligbilities ar armortised cost

All financial liabilities which do not meet the criteria to be recognised as FVTPL are classified as financial liabilities at
amortised cost. These liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less any transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial liability. Subsequent recognition charges the effective rate of
interest as a finance cost with any cash payments diminishing the liability.

Derecognition of fingncial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial instruments

The Group may enter into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign
exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps. Further details of derivative
financial instruments are disclosed in Note 32.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a negative fair value
is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the
remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 moenths and it is not expected to be realised or settled within
12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive} as a result of a past event, it
is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
areceivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the offer of
the termination benefit and when the entity recognises any related restructuring costs.

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination

Contingent liabilities acquired in a business combination are initially measured at fair value at the acquisition date. At
the end of subsequent reporting periods, such contingent liabilities are measured at the higher of the amount that would
be recognised in accordance with IAS 37 and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received. Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to
compensate. Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

Share based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair value

of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value excludes the effect of non-market-based conditions. The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight line basis over the estimated vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that will eventually vest.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of interest rate risks in cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and
the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the hedging
instrument is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the
hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued)

Hedge accounting (continued)
e there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;
e the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

e the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to
hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk
management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the Group adjusts the hedge ratio of
the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again.

The Group designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e. including the forward elements) as the
hedging instrument for alf of its hedging relationships involving forward contracts.

The Group designates only the intrinsic value of option contracis as a hedged item, i.e. excluding the time value of the
option. The changes in the fair value of the aligned time value of the option are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the cost of hedging reserve. If the hedged item is transaction-related, the time value is
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item affects profit or loss. [f the hedged item is time-period related, then
the amount accumulated in the cost of hedging reserve is reclassified to profit or loss on a rational basis — the Group
applies straight-line amortisation. Those reclassified amounts are recognised in profit or Joss in the same line as the
hedged item. If the hedged item is a non-financial item, then the amount accumulated in the cost of hedging reserve is
removed directly from equity and included in the initial carrying amount of the recognised non-financial item.
Furthermore, if the Group expects that some or all of the loss accumulated in cost of hedging reserve will not be
recovered in the future, that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

Note 32 sets out details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Movements in the
hedging reserve in equity are detailed in the Statement of Changes in Equity.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives and other qualifying hedging instruments that are
designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the
heading of cash flow hedging reserve, limited to the cumulative change in fair value of the hedged item from inception
of the hedge. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss, and is
included in the 'Other gains and losses' line item.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or
loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, in the same line as the recognised hedged item. However,
when the hedged forecast transaction results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the
gains and losses previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are removed from
equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or non-financial liability. This
transfer does not affect other comprehensive income. If the Group expects that some or all of the loss accumulated in
the hedging reserve will not be recovered in the future, that amount is immediately reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group discontinues hedge accounting only when the hedging relationship {(or a part thereof) ceases to meet the
qualifying criteria (after rebalancing, if applicable). This includes instances when the hedging instrument expires or is
sold, terminated or exercised. The discontinuation is accounted for prospectively. Any gain or loss recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in cash flow hedge reserve at that time remains in equity and is reclassified to
profit or loss when the forecast transaction occurs. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain
or lass accumulated in the cash flow hedge reserve is reclassified immediately to profit or loss.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
Jjudgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately
below), that the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in financial statements.

Leases

Management exercises judgement in determining the likelihood of exercising break or extension options in
determining the lease term. Break and extension options are included to provide operational flexibility should the
economic outlook for the asset be different to expectations, and hence at commencement of the lease, extension
options are not typically considered reasonably certain to be exercised, unless there is a valid business reason
otherwise. The discount rate used to calculate the lease liability is the rate implicit in the lease, if it can be readily
determined, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate if not. Incremental borrowing rates are determined depending
on the term, country, currency and start date of the lease . The incremental borrowing rate is determined based on a
series of inputs, including the risk free rate based on the government bonds rate; a country-specific risk adjustment, a
credit risk adjustment based on the Group’s borrowing, and an entity specific adjustment where the entity risk profile
is different to that of the Group. Refer to note 14 for additional disclosures relating to leases.

Acquired intangible assets

When the Group makes an acquisition, management determines initially whether any intangible assets (e.g. customer
relationships, brands and technology) should be recognised separately from goodwill, and the provisional amounts at
which to recognise those assets. Certain assumptions are used in determining the provisional values for such intangible
assets, including, but not limited to, future growth rates and student churn rates. During the first 12 months of ownership,
intangible assets are reviewed to determine whether any additional information exists that supports amendments to that
original assessment.

Fair value of acquired land and buildings

When the Group makes an acquisition, management obtains an external valuation of any land and buildings acquired.
Certain assumptions are used in determining the value of such assets including, but not limited to, future projected
profitability and cashflows.
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4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period, that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
itext financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired reyuires an estimation of the value in use and fair value less costs of disposal
of cash-generating units (CGUSs) or Group of CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation
requires the Directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU or Group of CGUs, and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation requires the
Directors to estimate the multiples of budgeted earnings that are expected to be realised on any sale of the CGU or
Group of CGU’s.

Future cash flows are based on approved budgets, five year plans and assumptions of terminal growth rates. Multiples
are based on valuations of similar transactions.

For the year ended 31 August 22, the key area of estimation uncertainty related to the estimates applied to the Colombia
CGU. Refer to Note 10 for further detail, including sensitivity analysis of the applied estimates.

Recognition of deferred tax losses

The Group recognises deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax
bases; unused tax losses; and unused tax credits. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available against which those unused tax losses, unused tax credits or deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Judgements are required in assessing whether sufficient future taxable profits
will be made to recognise the benefit of deferred tax assets accumulated at the Balance Sheet date. Changes in the
judgements which underpin the Group’s forecasts could have an impact on the amount of future taxable profits and
could have an impact on the period over which the deferred tax asset would be recovered. Details of the deferred tax
assets, recognised and unrecognised, are set out in Note 19.
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3. Segmental reporting

The Board of Directors has determined that the Group’s business activities are split into six segments. Five segments
are based on geographical areas. The Online segment is considered to represent a different service provision and is
reported on a global basis given the global location of its customers. These divisions constitute the basis on which
information is reported to the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker, which has been determined to be the Group’s
Board of Directors. There are no un-disclosed or other operating segments.

The segment result is the measure used for the purposes of performance assessment and represents profit earned by
each segment, but before central costs, highlighted items, net finance costs, depreciation, amortisation, and taxation.

Each segment derives its revenues from the provision of education and related services. The accounting policies applied
in preparing the management information for each of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting

policies described in Note 3.

An analysis of the results of the period by reportable segment is as follows:

South Africa

Europe

Middie East and North Africa
Latin America

Asia Pacific

Online

Total

South Africa

Europe

Middle East and North Africa
Latin America

Asia Pacific

Onlirie

Total

Year ended 31 August 2022

Revenue Segment result
€000 €000

71,355 30,092
316,555 94,909
57,082 23,567
57,062 26,161
133,018 62,520
22,388 4,258
657,460 241,447

Year ended 31 August 2021

Revenue Segment result
€000 €000

61,575 23,346

260,650 74,785

43,100 22,060

37,850 16,604

116,136 48,143
4,045 (104)

B 528,356 184,834
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5. Segmental reporting (continued)

No segmental analysis of assets and labilities is provided, as this is not information which is regularly provided to the
Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker.

Reconciliation from Aggregate segment result to profit for the year:

Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August

2022 2021
€000 €000
Aggregate segment result 241,447 184,834
Central costs (24,537) (17,899)
Pre-opening/start-up operating loss (3.004) (2,452)
Acquisition and transaction related costs (15,299) (7,632)
Loss on the disposal or closure of a subsidiary (4,404) (244)
Restructuring and integration costs (768) (3,393}
Litigation expenses 278) -
Gain on bargain purchase 401 -
Gain on disposal of associate through step-acquisition - 8,064
FX gains arising on financing and derivatives re: acquisitions and disposals 22,595 -
Depreciation (51,278} (48,858)
Amortisation (27,940} (19,076)
Net finance costs (58,884} (53,468)
Profit before tax 78,051 39,876
Tax (25,395) (14,227)
Profit for the year 52,656 25,649
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5. Segmental reporting (continued)

Pre-opening/stari-up operating loss

Start-up revenues, operating costs, finance income and finance costs (including those relating to lease liabilities) related
to the operating results of new schools, including online school operations, started by the Group. The profile of revenue
and costs in start-up schools is different to that of more mature operations within the Group and hence the Directors
consider that separate disclosure is helpful for users of the financial statements. The results of start-up operations for
new schools will cease to be included within this category once they become consistently profitable before net finance
costs; depreciation; amortisation; and taxation; or after three years of operation where the property is owned, or four
years of operation where the property is leased, whichever is earlier.

Acqguisition and transaction related costs

Costs incurred in relation to acquisitions and other corporate transactions, including legal and advisory fees, and the
revaluation of the present value of gross obligations under written put options over non-controlling interests.

Loss / costs incurred on the disposal or closure of a subsidiary

Ir 2022, the Group disposed of its 60.2% investment in Ostaz Holdings Ltd, which resulted in a loss on disposal of €4.4
million.

In 2021, this related to the accounting loss arising on the closure of Kings College International SL, Elche and Kings
College Frankfurt.

Restructuring and integration costs

Costs incurred in the completion of cost-saving and right-sizing initiatives, including the recognition of material onerous
contracts; severance payments and associated legal fees incurred as part of a restructuring plan; and recruitment costs
for new school heads hired post acquisition. Restructuring costs are only excluded from results if they constitute an
initial restructure post acquisition, or a significant restructuring of the school’s ongoing operations.

Litigation expenses

Costs incurred in the settlement of claims against the Group that the Directors consider to be significant enough fo
warrant separate disclosure.

Gain on bargain purchase

Bargain purchase gain arising from the acquisition of Centro de Formacion Mestral SL (*Mestral®).
Gain on disposal of associate throagh step-acquisition

In 2021, this related to an accounting gain arising on the gaining of controi of Socieduca ~ Sociedade De Educacao,
SA, following the acquisition of an additional 6% equity ownership interest during the year. In accordance with [FRS,
the transaction was accounted for as a disposal of the previously held investment an associate, and acquisition of
controlled subsidiary at fair value. The gain represented the difference between the consideration transferred to obtain
control, plus the fair value of non-controlling interest, plus the fair value of the previcusly held equity interest; less the
fair value of the identifiable net assets of Socieduca — Sociedade De Educacao, SA that were acquired.

FX gains arising on financing and derivatives re: acquisitions and disposals

Mark to market gains (realised and unrealised) on derivative instruments used to hedge foreign currency consideration
payable on acquisitions, and gains/losses on intragroup debt/equity structuring.
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Revenue by country

The following countries had revenues from external customers that constituted 10 per cent or more of the Group’s
total revenue.

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

August 2022 August 2021

€000 €000

Spain 132,125 112,534
Italy 79,286 70,192
South Africa 71,355 61,575

There are no individual customers that constitute 10 per cent or more of the Group’s revenues.
Revenue by category

An analysis of the Group revenue by category is as follows:

Year ended Year ended

31 Auvgust 2022 31 August 2021

€000 €000

School and other related fees 655,129 526,826
Sales of goods 2,331 1,530

Revenne from contracts with customers 657,460 528,356
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6. Profit for the year

(a) Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:
Year ended 31

Awvgust 2022

€000
Net foreign exchange losses 7,266
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 24,812
Depreciation of right of use asset 26,466
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 546
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 4,404
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 24,396
Amortisation of other intangible assets 3,544
Short term and low value leases 1,263
Staff costs (see Note 7) 205,427

Year ended 31
August 2021
€000

335
24,318
24,540

1,268

16,646
2,430
2,159

245,523

In accordance with IFRS 16, operating lease rentals represent short term (j.e. < 1 year) leases, and leases with a value

of < €5,000.

(b) The analysis of the auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

Fees pavable to the company’s auditor and their associates for the statutory audit of the Company and Consolidated

Sfinancial statements:
Year ended 31

Year ended 31

August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000

Audit of the Company’s annual accounts 310 570
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 1,580 1,250
Total audit fees 2,390 1,820
Non-audit fees payable to the company’s auditor and their
associates:
- Other assurance services 63 -
- Other services - 114
Total non-audit fees 63 114
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7. Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:

Teaching staff
Non-teaching staff

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Share based payments

8. Finance costs and income

Bank interest expense
Amortisation of loan fees
Lease liability interest
Other interest expense

Bank interest income
Other interest income

Net finance costs

2022 2021
Number Number
4,805 4,063
3,896 2,990
8,701 7,053
Year ended 31 Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
251,685 208,730
34,937 29,124
7,133 6,569
1,672 1,100
295,427 245,523
Year ended 31 Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
30,169 26,876
4,266 3,236
25,809 23,800
- 314
60,244 54,226
{1,092) (758)
(268) -
58,884 53,468
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9. Tax

Corporation tax:
Current year
Adjustments in respect of previous years

Deferred tax (see Note 19)

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000

32,972 20,124
(1,445) 1,907
31,527 22,031
(6,132) {7,804)
25,395 14,227

UK corporation tax is calculated at 19% (2021: 19%) of the estimated taxable profit for the year.
UK deferred tax balances are measured at the future tax rate of 25% effective i April 2023 (2G21: 25%). Taxation for

ather jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit in the comprehensive statement of income as follows:

Profit before tax

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2021: 19%)

Adjustments in respeci of current tax of previous years
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of previous years
Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit

[ncome not taxable in determining taxable profit

Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised

Impact of change in tax rate

Change in unrecognised deferred 1ax assets

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other
jurisdictions

Non-creditable or refundable withholding taxes on
dividend/interest/royalty receipts

Tax expense for the year

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000

78,051 39,876
14,830 7,576
(1,445) 1,907
Q27N -

9,049 5,253
(1,600) (5,087)
412) (1,406)

{107} -

754 2,411

3,173 2,811

1,430 762
25,395 14,227
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9. Tax (continued)

In addition to the amount charged to the comprehensive statement of income, the following amounts relating to tax
have been recognised in other comprehensive income:

Deferred tax: Year ended 31 Year ended 31

August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 55 (203)
Tax credit on fair value movements on cash flow hedges (406) -
Total income tax recognised in other comprehensive income
(351) (203)
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190. Goodwill

Year ended Year ended

August 2022 August 2021

€000 €000

Cost

Balance at beginning of year 813,520 686,075
Recognised on acquisition of a business 270,922 113,597

Adjustment to provisional accounting in the prior pericd 37 {1,085)
De-recognised on disposal of a subsidiary (6,270) -
Exchange differences 61,840 14,933
Total 1,140,049 813,520

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment.

With the exception of the Colombia CGU, the recoverable amounts of the CGUs or group of CGUs are determined
from value in use calculations. The recoverable amount of the Colombia CGU is determined from a calculation of
estimated fair value less costs of disposal.

The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected
changes to operating costs during the period. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs or group of CGUs. The
growth rates and operating cost forecasts are based on financial budgets approved by the Directors covering a five-year
period, and a variable terminal growth rate of between 1.0% and 5.0% thereafter. This rate does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant markets.

The Board has considered various alternative performance scenarios for each CGU or group of CGUs, including
sensitising all of the key assumptions noted above. The principal sensitivity in assessing value in use is the level of
forecast future enrolment growth, The value in use calculations assume growth in enrolments over the forecast period.
It is noted that an adverse change in forecast enrolment numbers may result in the carrying value of CGUs or groups of
CGUs to exceed the estimated value in use calculation.

The recoverable amount of the Colombia CGU is determined from a calculation of estimated fair value less costs of
disposal. The fair value is calculated as a multiple of budgeted FY23 Adjusted EBITDA (refer Appendix | for
definition). Based on an average of acquisition multiples for similar transactions in the sector, a multiple of 12.8x has
been used. Costs of disposal are estimated based on costs incurred in similar transactions.

A minimum multiple of 12.0x budgeted Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended 31 August 2023 is required to support
the recoverable amount. It is noted that an adverse change in the multiple of Adjusted EBITDA to below 12.0x, or a
reduction of 7% in the budgeted FY23 Adjusted EBITDA, could result in an impairment loss being recognised. For
example, if the multiple were to fall to 11.0x, an impairment of €1.6 million would be realised. A 10% fall in budgeted
FY23 Adjusted EBITDA would result in an impairment of €0.7 miiflion. The impact of both a reduction in multiple to
11.0x and a 10% fall in budgeted FY23 Adjusted EBITDA would be an impairment of €3.5 million.
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10.  Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units {CGUs} or Group
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been

allocated as follows:

As at 31 As at 31

August 2022 August 2021

€000 €000

South Africa 27,086 26,881
Kenya 9,136 8,462
Ttaly 112,445 112,035
Switzerland 18,264 16,537
Belgium 4,113 4,113
UK 19,760 19.837
Colombia 9,169 9,055
Australia 12,121 10,969
Spain 155,750 141,868
Bahrain 92,100 78,162
Peru 979 779
Costa Rica 2,203 1,994
Portugal 37,903 37,870
New Zealand 113,079 110,320
Vietnam 162,478 141,989
Indonesia 2,507 2,216
Mexico 1,242 1,657
Panama 17,508 14,860
Latvia 5,521 5,521
Oman 10,804 9,169
Online 53,921 59,826
Morocco 6,218 -
Brazil 263,652 -
1,140,049 813,520
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10.  Goodwill (continued}

The terminal growth rates, and pre-tax discount rates used to discount the forecast cash flows for each CGU or Group
of CGUs, are as follows;

Terminal growth rate Discount rate

2022 2021 2022 2021

% Yo %o Yo

South Africa 4.5 4.5 14.4 15.3
Kenya 5.0 5.0 20.0 20.0
Italy 2.0 1.3 11.1 9.7
Switzerland 1.0 1.0 54 6.0
Belgium 1.7 1.8 9.3 3.0
UK 2.0 2.0 10.3 8.7
Colombia 3.0 3.0 15.4 11.4
Australia 2.6 24 8.6 8.6
Spain 1.7 1.7 10.0 8.7
Bahrain 240 2.2 12.0 1o
Peru 2.0 2.0 1.4 9.9
Costa Rica 3.0 3.1 17.9 15.0
Portugal 1.3 1.6 10.3 8.4
New Zealand 2.0 22 9.7 8.3
Vietnam 35 4.0 12.8 12.2
Indonesia 2.9 2.9 12.2 10.0
Mexico 3.0 3.0 14.2 13.6
Panama 2.0 2.0 10.7 8.7
Latvia 25 2.2 9.4 7.5
Oman 1.9 0.9 12.9 124
Online 2.0 2.0 10.3 8.7
Brazil 3.0 - 21.8 -
Morocco 2.0 - 11.6 -
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I1.  Other intangible assets

Cost
At 31 August 2020

Recognised on acquisition of a business
Additions

Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 August 2021

Recognised on acquisition of a business
Additions

Provisional purchase price allocation
adjustment

Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 August 2022
Amortisation and impairment
At 31 August 2020
Amortisation expense
Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 August 2021
Amortisation expense
Disposals

Exchange differences

At 31 August 2022

Carrying amount
At 31 August 2022

At 31 August 2021

Customer Software
Brands relations development Other Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €000
127,278 146,428 4,748 1,624 280,078
19,715 41,460 1,232 743 63,150
. - 4,659 150 4,809
- (596) (124) (37) (757)
3,306 {5,539) 34 29 {2,170)
150,299 181,753 10,549 2,509 345,110
12,858 44,2%0 205 38 57,391
46 - 3,536 262 5,844
(847) - 1,409 (562) -
) - {141) (628) (776}
7,322 14,285 131 131 21,869
169,671 240,328 17,689 1,750 429,438
(2,434) (38,539) (1,236) (407) (42,616)
(38) {16,608) (1,795) (635) {19,076)
- 24 88 11 123
(2) (410) (22) (40) (474}
(2,474) (55,533) (2,965) (1,071) {62,043)
(2,004) (22,392) (3,378) (166) (27,940}
- - 141 550 691
(15) (5,270) (103) (289) (5,677)
(4,493) (83,195) (6,305) (976) (94,969)
165,178 157,133 11,384 774 334,469
147,825 126,220 7,584 1,438 283,067
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11.  Other intangible assets (continued)
Customer relations

Customer relations are amortised to the income statement on a straight-line basis over a 5 to 15 year period, reflecting
the future duration of students at the schools, as at acquisition date, for the specific acquisition.

Other intangibles
Other intangibles represent land use rights and learning materials.
Brands

Certain brands are projected to generate net cash inflows for the Group for the foreseeable future, and as such there is
no limit to the assets” useful life, which is considered to be indefinite. Brands with an indefinite useful life are therefore
not amortised but assessed for impairment whenever there is any indication that the asset may be impaired, or at a
minimum on an annual basis. The recoverable amounts are determined from value in use calculations, consistent with
those used in the goodwill recoverable amount testing disclosed in Note 10.

Brands acquired in the Online Group of CGUs are amortised over 10 years, brands acquired that represent less well
established trademarks are amortised over 5 to 10 years, which is considered to reflect the likely duration of use in
each case.

Brands acquired in a business combination are allocated, at acquisition, to the cash generating units (CGUs) or group
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business combination. The carrying amount of brands had been
allocated as follows:

As at 31 August As at 31 August

2022 2021

€000 €000

Kenya 4,550 4,223
Scuth Africa 15,514 15,395
Indonesia 138 129
New Zealand 20,457 19,958
Vietnam 19,514 17,053
Australia 31,141 28,182
Italy 107 126
Latvia 399 399
Spain 36,756 34,283
Mexico 7,704 7,704
Portugal 1,394 1,394
Panama 3,578 3,256
Oman 385 326
Online 12,681 15,397
Brazil 10,496 -
Morocco 326 -
UK 38 -
165,178 147,825
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12, Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets

Investment in associate

Balance at beginning of year

Acquired during the year

Share of profits

Disposal resulting from change from associate to
controlled subsidiary

Total

As at 31 August

As at 31 August

2022 2021
€000 €000
2,407 112
2,407 112

Year ended 31
August 2022
€000

Year ended 31
August 2021
€000

18,675

953

(19,628)
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

13.  Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Assets pledged as security

The Group’s obligations under certain bank loans are secured by the lenders title to fixed assets held, which have a
carrying amount of €38.1 million (2021: €37.7 million) and are recognised within Land and Buildings.

14. Leases

Leases that fall within the scope of IFRS16 are recognised as a right-of-use asset with a corresponding liability at the
date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Leases: Right of use asset Land & Other

Buildings leases Total

€000 €000 €000

Cost
At 1 September 2020 293,909 1,061 294,970
Recognised on acquisition of a business 11,378 15 11,393
Additions 1,918 1.419 3,337
Transfer between classes 2,377) 2,377 -
Disposals (1,268) (938) (2,206)
Modifications and remeasurements 6,818 (3) 6,815
Exchange differences 12,818 10 12,828
At 31 August 2021 323,196 3,941 327,137
Recognised on acquisition of a business 63,498 - 63,498
Additions 620 758 1,378
Transferred to right of use assets 1,033 - 1,033
Disposals (723 (84) (807)
Modifications and remeasurements 16,026 - 16,026
Exchange differences 20,518 78 20,596
At 31 August 2022 424,168 4,693 428,861
Depreciation
At 1 September 2020 (22,644) (343) (22,987)
Charge for the year (23,392) (1,148) (24,540)
Transfers between classes 425 {425) -
Disposals 1,158 523 1,681
Exchange differences (504) {5) (509)
At 31 August 2021 (44,957) (1,398) (46,355)
Charge for the year (25,699) (767) (26,466)
Transfers between classes (419) - (419)
Disposals 519 55 574
Exchange differences (3,244) (56) (3,300)
At 31 August 2022 (73,800) (2,166) (75,966)
Net book value
At 31 August 2022 350,368 2,527 352,895
At 31 August 2021 278,239 2,543 280,782
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14.  Leases (continued)

Leases: Liabilities

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows
Less than one year

One to five years

More than five years

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 August
Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial position
Current

Non-current

Total at 31 August

Amounts recognised in the income statement
Interest on lease liabilities
Depreciation on right of use assets

Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows
Repayment of lease obligations

2022 2021
€000 €000
35,312 40,167
216,127 158,372
505,187 362,031
776,626 560,570

23,263 17,005
361,978 288,838
385,241 305,843

2022 2021
€000 €000
25,809 23,800
26,466 24,540

2022 2021
€000 €000
45,336 37,144
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15. Subsidiaries

The Group consists of a parent company, Inspired Education Holdings Limited, incorporated in the UK, and a number
of subsidiaries and associates held directly and indirectly by Inspired Education Holdings Limited, which operate and
are incorporated around the world. Note 40 lists details of the interests in subsidiaries and information about the
composition of the Group at the end of the reporting period.

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that have non-controlling interests:

Name of subsidiary

Inspired Education (Oman) Limited
Socieduca — Sociedade De Educacao, SA
Ostaz Holdings Limited

Inspired Education (Egypt) S.A.E
Kensington School SA

SLS Properties Sri

Bergamo Internationa! Studies Srl
Gurilandia Holding S.A

Institut Khalil Jabran S.A

Total

Proportion of

Place of ownership
incorporati interests and
on and voting rights
principal held by non-
place of controlling
business interests

31 August 2022

UK 25.0%
Portugal -
UK -
Egypt 49.0%
Spain -
Italy 49.0%
Italy 40.0%
Brazil 49.0%
Morocco 23.7%

Profit / (loss)
allocated to non-
controlling

Accumulated
non-controlling

interests interests
31 August 2022 31 August 2022
€000 €000
199 3,171
709 -
(365) -
(55) (55)
4 R
22 4,246
256 1,024
156 448
(86) (149)
840 8,685
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15.  Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiary

O Parque — Ensino de Criancas SA
Inspired Education (Oman) Limited
Socieduca — Sociedade De Educacao, SA
Ostaz Holdings Limited

Inspired Education (Egypt) S.A.E
Kensington School $A

King’s College Latvia, S.A.

SLS Properties Sri

PT Awal Cakrawala

Bergamo International Studies Srl

Total

Place of
incarporation
and principal
place of
business

Porlugal
UK
Portugal
UK
Egypt
Spain
Latvia
Italy
Indonesia

Italy

Proportion of
ownership interests
and voting rights
held by non-
controlling interests

31 August 2021

25.0%
45.0%
39.8%
49.0%

0.6%

49.0%

40.0%

Profit / (loss}

allocated to Accumulated
non-controlling non-controlling
interests interests

31 August 2021 31 August 2021
€000 €000

42 -

(4) 2,972

{453) 24,978

29 2.898

(2) 118

(44) -

4 4,224

121 -

85 768

(280} 35,958

The reconciliation of non-controlling interests in Note 26 includes an analysis of the profit or loss allocated to non-
controlling interests of each subsidiary where the non-controlling interest is material.

There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the Group to access or use assets and settle liabilities of
subsidiaries with a non-controlling interest.

Disposals

On 7 June 2022, the Group signed an agreement to sell its 60.2% ownership of Ostaz Holdings Limited for
consideration of €0.0 million. The disposal resulted in a loss on disposal of €4.4 million.
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16.  Inventories
As at 31 August As at 31 August

2022 2021

€000 €000
Finished goods - school uniform 1,774 1,860
Allowance for impairment (46) (30)
1,728 1,830

17.  Trade and other receivables
As at 31 August  As at 31 August
2022 2021 (restated)

€000 €000

Amount receivable for the rendering of services 87,692 73,364
Allowance for expected credit losses (10,3006) (5.003)
Trade receivables 77,386 64,361
Prepayments 18,361 8,037
Corporation tax receivable 2,519 4,635
Derivative assets 4,962 -
Other receivables 11,494 9,258

114,722 86,291

There are no customers who represent more than 3 per cent of the total balance of trade receivables.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over any of its trade receivables nor does it have
a legal right of offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty.

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses
Year ended 31 As at 31 August
August 2022 2021 (restated)

€000 €000
Balance at the beginning of the year (9,003) (9,194)
Impairment losses recognised from contracts with customers (1,714) (2,205)
Written off as uncollectable 1,025 2,559
Impairment losses reversed 119 158
Foreign exchange translation losses (733) (321}
Total allowance for expected credit losses (10,306) (9,003)

The concentration of credit risk is limited, due to the customer base being large and unrelated. The allowance for
expected credit losses has increased in the current year as a result of the increase in gross receivables due, which is in
line with the growth in revenue.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables is approximately equal to their fair
value.

The 2021 disclosures have been restated to present the movements on acquisition of a business as being net of
provision for doubtful debts.
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18.  Borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and borrowing - Current
Variable rate bank and other loans
Variable rate loans swapped to fixed interest

Current borrowings

Interest-bearing loans and borrowing - Non-current
Variable rate bank loans

Variable rate loans swapped to fixed interest

Loan fees

Fixed rate loans to non-controlling interests

Non Interest-bearing loans - Non-current
Loans

Non-current borrowings

Total borrowings

Unsecured borrowing at amortised cost
Loan to holders of non-controlling interests
Other loans

Secured borrowing at amortised cost
Bank loans

Loan fees

Total borrowings

As at 31 August

As at 31 August

2022 2021
€000 €000
19,471 22,170
1,238 .
20,709 22,170
41,092 839,378
1,048,145 .
(23,644) (16,145)
890 842
1,014 N
1,067,497 824,075
1,088,206 846,245

As at 31 August

As at 31 Augnst

2022 2021
€000 €000
890 842
1,014 .
1,109,946 861,548
(23,644) (16,145)
1,088,206 846,245
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18.  Borrowings (continued)

United
Moroccan Brazilian States  Australian Omani
Eures Dirham Real Dollar Dollar Rial Total
€000 €'000 €000 €000 €000 €000 €000
Analysis of borrewings by currency:
Bank and other loans 1,077.439 274 4,696 2,684 2223 - 1,087.316
Loans to non-controlling interests 576 - - - - 314 390
At 31 August 2022 1,678,015 274 4,696 2,684 2,223 3i4 1,088,206
New
Zealand Colombian  Peruvian  Australian Omani
Eures Dollar Peso Sol Dollar Rial Total
€000 €000 €000 €008 €000 €000 €'000
Analysis of borrowings by currency:
Bark and other loans 835,060 5,509 - 2.822 2,012 - 845,403
Loans to non-controlling interests 576 - - - - 266 842
At 31 August 2021 833,636 5,509 - 2.822 2,012 266 846,245

The Group has the following principal bank loans as at 31 August 2022:

Loans of €795 million and €250 million, both repayable in full in May 2026. The loans are secured by a charge over
the share capital of various subsidiary entities. The loans carry a variable interest rate of EURIBOR + margin, with the

margin dependent on leverage.

The weighted average interest rate paid during the year was 3.2% (2021: 3.3%).

Unutilised facilities

As at 31 August 2022, the Group had committed unutilised lean facilities of €85 million available until May 2025
(2021: €85 million). On 2 September 2022, the Group increased its committed unutilised loan facilities to €155 million.
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19. Deferred tax

The following are the major classes of deferred tax assets and liabilities and recognised by the Group during the current
and prior reporting period:

As at 31 August 2022 As at 31 August 2021

€000 €000

Intangible assets (62,959) (75,398)

Accelerated tax depreciation (26,233) (8,059)

Provisions 5,439 4,044

Retirement benefit obligations 243 134

Deferred revenue 2,529 2,510

Tax losses 1,685 2,798

CIR disallowance credits 1,981 1,981

Other (1,898} (1,832)

Net deferred tax (79,213) (73,822)

Accelerated
Intangible tax

assets depreciation Other Total

€000 €000 €000 €000
At 31 August 2020 (64,626) {7,468) 6,016 (66,078)

Credit to comprehensive income 3,354 5,146 1,141 9,641
Acquisition of business (14,595) {5,264) 3,715 (16,144)

Exchange differences 469 455 (125} 799
Impact of a tax rate change - (928) (1,112) (2,040)
At 31 August 2021 (75,398) (8,059) 9,635 (73,822)

Credit to comprehensive income 8,739 (3,426) 447 5,760
Acquisition of business (5,089) {2,5606) 465 (7,190)
Exchange differences (3,544) (229) 411 (3,362)
Reallocation 12,333 (11,974) (979) (620)

Impact of tax rate change - 21 - 21
At 31 August 2022 (62,959) (26,233) 9,979 (79,213)

The movement in deferred tax during the current reporting year was as follows:

As at 31 August As at 31 August

2022 2021

€060 €000
Balance at beginning of year (73,822) {66,078)
Credit to profit or loss 6,132 7,804
Debit to other comprehensive income (351) (203)
Acquisition of business (7,190) (16,144)
Exchange differences (3,362) 799
Other (620} -
Total (79,213) (73,822)
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19.  Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the Group has a legally enferceable right to do so. The following is

the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:
As at 31 August  As at 31 August

2022 2021
€°000 €000
Deferred tax liabilities (99,646) (92,336)
Deferred tax assets 20,433 18,514
(79,213) (73,822)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has gross tax losses for a total amount of €79.3 million (2021: €65.6 million).

A deferred tax asset of €1.7 million (2021: €2.8 million) has been recognised in respect of gross tax losses of €7.1
million (2021: €12.5 million) as it is considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available to offset
against these losses.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of gross tax losses of €72.2 million (2021: €53.1 million) as it is
not considered probable that there will be future taxable profits available to offset against these losses. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of € nil (2021: €3.1 million) that will expire from 2023 to 2027,

At the balance sheet date, the Group has gross unused Corporate Interest Restriction disallowance of €40.7 million
(2021: €24.0 million) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset of €2.0 million has been
recognised in respect of this balance. The remainder has not been recognised as it is not considered probable that there
will be future taxable profits available.

No deferred tax lability is recognised on temporary differences of €121.4 million (2021: €122.6 million) relating to
the unremitted earnings of overseas subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the timings of the reversal of these
temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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20.  Trade and other payables

Asat 31 As at 31

August 2622 August 2021

€000 €000

Trade payables 18,209 17,032
Taxes and social security costs 16,694 13,776
Accruals 32,717 17,987
Deposits 11,073 10,388
Other payables 22,380 17,635
101,673 76,818

The Group and the Company have financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid

within the credit timeframe.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value.

21. Provisions
As at 31 As at 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
Employee benefits provision 6,118 5,115
Other 417 497
6,535 5,012
Current 5,127 4,226
Non-current 1,408 1,386
6,535 5,612
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21. Provisions (continued)

Employee
benefits Other Total
€000 €000 €000
At 1 September 2021 4,554 186 4,740
Additional provision in the year 1,752 796 2,548
Release of provision (32) (643) (675)
Utilised during the year (832) (59) (891)
On acquisition of a business 24 178 202
Exchange differences (351 39 312)
At 31 August 2021 5,115 497 5,612
Additional provision in the year 2,615 317 2,932
Release of provision - (492) (492)
Utilised during the year (1,407) (111) (1,518}
On acquisition of a business 600 103 703
Exchange difference (805) 103 (702}
At 31 August 2022 6,118 417 6,535

Employee benefits include long service leave and end of service benefits payable to employees. The provisions
represent management’s best estimate of the liability based on expected employee retention and remuneration levels.

Provisions are measured at the Directars’ best estimate of expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting

date and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

70



Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

22, Deferred consideration and consideration payable for non-controlling interests

Deferred consideration liabilities include balances representing the fair value of consideration payable to settle
liabilities under put arrangements to acquire non-controlling interests, as well as earn-out arrangements whereby the
consideration payable includes a deferred element. In certain cases, this deferred element is contingent on the future
financial performance of the acquired entity.

As at 31 August As at 31 August

2022 2021

€000 €000

Deferred cash consideration 2,981 5,292
Consideration to settle put options for non-controlling interests 20,137 26,035
Contingent consideration 19,329 -
42,447 31,327

Current 26,299 26,252
Non-current 16,148 5,075
42,447 31,327

For Bergamo, a financial liability of €4.0 million (31 August 2021: €2.2 million) is recognised for potential exercise
of a put/call option over the non-controlling interest that can be exercised at any time between August 2023 and August
2025,

For St Peters, a financial liability of €20.1 million was recognised at 31 August 2021 for the potential exercise of a
put/call option over the non-controlling interest. Following payment during the year, €Nil is recognised at 31 August
2022,

For Inspired Education Oman Limited, a financial liability of €2.7 million (31 August 2021: €0.9 million) is
recognised for the potential exercise of a put/call option over the non-controlling interest that can be exercised at any
time between September 2021 and September 2026.

For Ostaz Holdings Limited, a financial liability of €2.9 million was recognised at 31 August 2021 for the potentiat
exercise of a put/call option over the non-controlling interest. Following disposal of the business in the current year,
€Nil is recognised at 31 August 2022,

For the acquisition of Eleva, contingent consideration of BRL 95 million (€18.4 million) is payable subject to certain
criteria, and was subsequently paid in December 2022. A financial liability of €11.0 million (31 August 2021: €Nil)
is recognised for potential exercise of a put/call option over the non-controlling interest that can be exercised at any
time between August 2023 and August 2025,

For the acquisition of Mirabal, deferred consideration of €1.2 million (31 August 2021: €2.2 million) is payable in
instalments 10 2024,

For the acquisition of Kensington, deferred consideration of €1.7 million {31 August 2021: €2.6 million} is payable
in instalments to 2024,

For the acquisition of KGS, contingent consideration of MAD 10.0 million (€0.9 million) is payable subject to certain
criteria, with an expected payment date of 2023. A financial liability of €2.4 million (31 August 2021: €Nil) is
recognised for potential exercise of a put/call option over the non-controlling interest that can be exercised at any time
between June 2026 and June 2030.

For the acquisition of Mestral, deferred consideration of €0.1 million (31 August 2021: €Nil) is payable with an
expected payment date of 2024.
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23.  Share capital

As at 31 As at 31 As at 31 As at 31

August 2022 August 2021 August 2022 August 2021

# # €000 €000

Authorised, issued and fully paid:

A ordinary shares 52,272 307,480 52 307
A2 ordinary shares 433,330 - - -
Bl ordinary shares 3,103,327 - 3,103 -
B2 ordinary shares 1,635,110 1,663,388 1,635 1,663
C1 ordinary shares 779,512 913,712 780 914
C2 ordinary shares 1,077,875 1,242,016 1,078 1,242
C3 ordinary shares - 109,493 - 110
D ordinary shares 972,610 1,531,789 973 1,532
E ordinary shares 2,217,853 3,412,082 2,218 3,412
EZ2 ordinary shares 1,177,692 1,811,834 1,178 1,812
F ordinary shares 1,231,851 1,675,181 - -
G ordinary shares 11,847 494,646 - -
G2 ordinary shares 502,463 1,772,431 - -
G3 ordinary shares 646,184 1,499,998 - -
G4 ordinary shares 856,933 1,056,830 - -
H Ordinary shares 900,000 - - -
15,598,859 17,490,880 11,017 10,992

A, B1, B2, C1,C2, C3, D, E and E2 ordinary shares have a par value of €1 .00 each.
A2, F, G, G2, G3, G4 and H ordinary shares have a par value of €0.0001 each.
Each share ranks equally for any dividend declared and for any distribution made on a winding up provided that:

- F ordinary shares shali only entitle their holder to receive any dividend or assets on a winding up or return of capital
from such time as Positive Cash Flows (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Association) previous!y made from
time to time to the Institutional Sharehelders (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Association) have exceeded
Negative Cash Flows (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Association), at which point the F ordinary shares
shall be entitled to 15% of any such excess and to all such dividends and assets pro rata to the F ordinary shares
held.

- G, G2, G3, G4 and H ordinary shares shall not be entitled to receive any dividends, or assets on a winding-up or on
a reduction or return of capital until such time as Positive Cash Flows (as defined in the Company’s Articles of
Association) previously made from time to time to the Institutional Sharehoiders (as defined in the Company’s
Articles of Association) have exceeded Negative Cash Flows (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Association)
plus a Preferred Return (as defined in the Company’s Articles of Association). Following such time, the G, G2, G3,
G4 and H ordinary shareholders, in respect of their shares, shall be entitled to a defined level of any excess, and all
such dividends and assets, pro rata to the shares held by them, in accordance with the agreed allocations noted in
the Company’s Articles of Association.

No shares are redeemable.
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23.  Share capital (continued)
Issue of shares

Inspired Education Holdings Limited {‘the Company’) issued the following ordinary shares during the year:

Date Class of Share Number of shares issued  Consideration
6 September 2021 G4 46,397 €0.0 million
25 QOctober 2021 G4 319,972 €0.0 million
31 January 2022 G4 7,692 €0.0 million
10 March 2022 G4 69,107! €0.0 million
20 May 2022 H 900,000! €0.0 million
20 May 2022 B1 457,461 €150.0 million

! Issued to the Employee Benefit Trust (‘EBT")
Issue of shares subsequent to year end

On 29 November 2022, 709,902 shares were sold by the EBT to various members of management of the Group, for
total consideration of €0.3 million.

On 14 December 2022, the Company issued 6,984 H Ordinary shares for consideration of €0.0 million.

Share buy-backs
The Company bought back the following ordinary shares during the year:

Date Class of shares Number of shares Consideration
purchased

20 May 2022 Cl 118,667 €0.0 million

20 May 2022 C2 143,027 €0.0 million

20 May 2022 D 171,636 €0.0 million

Share re-designations

On 20 May 2022, the Company redesignated the following shares:

Previous number of Previous class New number of shares New class of shares
shares of shares

255,208 A Ordinary 255,208 B1 Ordinary
28,278 B2 Ordinary 28,278 B1 Ordinary
15,533 C1 Ordinary 15,533 B1 Ordinary
21,114 C2 Ordinary 21,114 Bi Ordinary
109,493 C3 Ordinary 109,493 B1 Ordinary
387,543 D Ordinary 387,543 B1 Ordinary
1,194,229 E Ordinary 1,194,229 B1 Ordinary
634,142 E2 Ordinary 634,142 B1 Ordinary
10,000 F Ordinary 1 B! Ordinary
482,799 G Ordinary 48 B1 Ordinary
1,269,968 G2 Ordinary 127 B1 Ordinary
853,814 G3 Ordinary 86 B1 Ordinary
643,065 G4 Ordinary 64 B1 Ordinary
433,330 F Ordinary 433,330 A2 Ordinary
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23.  Share capital (continued)
Employee Benefit Trust

Inspired Education Holdings Limited Employee Benefit Trust (*EBT’) was established on 27 February 2020 to facilitate
the transfer of employee owned shares in Inspired Education Holdings Ltd.

During the cutrent year, the EBT entered into the following transactions in ordinary shares of the Company:

On 10 March 2022, 69,107 G4 Ordinary shares were issued by the Company to the EBT for consideration of €0.0
million,

On 20 May 2022, 900,000 H Ordinary shares were issued by the Company to the EBT for consideration of €0.0 million.

On 4 April 2022, 33,704 G Ordinary shares, 40,121 G2 Class Ordinary shares, 19,949 G3 Class Ordinary shares and
19,949 G4 Ordinary shares were transferred by existing shareholders into the Employee Benefit Trust for consideration
of €0.0 million.

On 20 May 2022, the Employee Benefit Trust sold 48,301 G Ordinary shares and 46,662 G2 Class Ordinary shares for
consideration of €4.4 million.

On 28 June 2022, 94,853 G2 Ordinary shares and 7,692 G4 Ordinary shares were transferred by existing shareholders
into the Employee Benefit Trust for consideration of €0.0 million.

As of 31 August 2021, the EBT owned 340,808 G2 ordinary shares in the Company, 488,465 G3 ordinary shares in the
Company, 96,748 G4 ordinary shares in the Company, and 900,000 H Ordinary shares in the Company. The
consideration paid for the shares was €0.0 million.

Share based payments
The following share-based payment expense has been recognised within staff costs:

As at 31 August As at 31 August

2022 2021
€000 €000
Share based payment expense 1,672 1,100

The Group has calculated the estimated fair value of each class of share issued during the year using the Black Scholes
model, based on assumptions around the timing and value that may be realised by each class of share following an exit
event (such as an 1PO or sale of the Company),

In the event an employee leaves employment prior to an exit event, the Company may require the shares to be transferred
to the Company, other employees, or the Employee Benefit Trust. The scheme is equity settled and consequently the
amount to be settled is assessed using the grant date model; the terminal liability is adjusted only when shares are
forfeited before vesting.

The following inputs and assumptions were used in the valuation:

Annualised volatility 30%

Exit event assumption date August 2022
Risk free rate 2.5%
Dividend yield 0%

Annual attrition of employees 10%

During the year, the exit event assumption date was changed to 31 August 2026 for those shares that were not transferred
in May 2022.
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24,  Share premium account

€000
Balance at 1 September 2020 575,993
Balance at 31 August 2021 575,993
Premium arising on issue of equity shares 153,939
Expenses of issue of equity shares (12,925)
Balance at 31 August 2022 717,007

25. Other reserves
Comnion control reserve

For business combinations which fall under the definition of a business combination under common control, the surplus
of consideration over the acquired net assets has been recognised directly in equity within the Common Control
Premium account.

Transiation reserve

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations, which relate to
subsidiaries only, from their functional currency into the parent’s functional currency, being Euro, are recognised
directly in the translation reserve.

Other reserves

This balance includes amounts recognised for the purchase of non-controlling interests, the initial recognition of gross
obligations under put options to purchase non-controlling interests, and the recognition of amounts expensed for share
based payments.

Hedging reserves

This balance relates to the gains recognised in other comprehensive income on the mark to market fair value of interest
rate hedges.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

27. Business combinations and disposals (continued)

(<) Disposals for the year ended 31 August 2022

As referred 10 in note 6, on 7th June 2022 the Group disposed of its interest in Ostaz Holdings Limited.

The net assets of Ostaz Holdings Limited.at the date of disposal were as follows:

€000
Property, plant and equipment 391
Intangibles 191
Trade receivables 384
Other receivables 224
Bank balances and cash 381
Deferred revenue (17
Other payables (787)
Attributable goodwill 6,270
Net assets disposed of _—_?)37
Non-controlling interest disposed of (2,533}
Tatal consideration -
Loss on disposal 4,404

The loss on disposal is included in the profit for the year in note 6.

{d} Disposals for the year ended 31 August 2021

There were no disposals of subsidiaries made in 2021. The group recognised an accounting loss of €0.2 million in the
year arising on the closure of Kings College Internaticnal SL, Elche and Kings College Frankfurt.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

28. Notes to the cash flow statement

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
Note August August
2022 2021
€000 €000
Profit before tax for the year 78,051 39,876
Adjustments for:
Unrealised foreign exchange losses 8.931 477
Mark to market gains of derivatives (27,699) -
Foreign exchange gain on disposal of subsidiary (1,084) -
Net finance costs 33,075 29,668
Lease liability interest expense 14 25,809 23,800
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 24,812 24,318
Depreciation of right of use asset 14 26,466 24,540
Amortisation of intangible assets 11 27,940 19,076
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 546 1,268
Loss on disposal of subsidiary 4,404 -
Gain on bargain purchase (401) -
Share of profit on associate 12 - (953)
Other non-cash items (115) 211)
Fair value adjustment for deferred consideration 3,342 1,901
Share based payment 1,672 1,110
Gain on disposal of associate through step-acquisition - (8,064)
Operating cash flows before movements in working
capital 205,749 156,806
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 48 (1,058)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 648 (168)
{Increase)/decrease in receivables {17,496) 3,717
{Decrease)increase in payables (279) 1,511
Increase in deferred revenue 27,991 8,494
Movement in other working capital 93 {286)
Cash generated by operations 216,754 169,016
Income taxes paid (27.156) (25,190}
Interest paid on borrowings (27,677) (25,911}
Interest paid on cash balances held (540) -
Lease liability interest paid 14 (25,809) (23,800)

Net cash from operating activities 135,572 94,115




Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

28.  Notes to the cash flow statement (continued}

Cash and cash equivalents

As at 31 As at 31

August 2022 August 2021

€000 €000

Cash and bank balances 192,484 111,865
192,484 111,865

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or
less. The carrying amount of these assets is approximately equal to their fair value. Cash and cash equivalents at the
end of the reporting period as shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items
in the consolidated balance sheet position as shown above.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2022

28. Notes to the cash flow statement {continued)

Net cash / (debt) balances at 31 August 2022 comprise:

Cash and bank balances
Lease hability
Borrowings

Net cash / (debt)

Net cash / (debt) balances at 31 August 2021 comprise:

Cash and bank balances
Lease liability
Borrowings

Net cash / (debt)

Current Current Non-current
assets liabilities liabilities Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
192,494 - - 192,494
- {23,263) (361,978) (385,241}
- (20,709) (1,067,497) (1,088,206}
192,494 (43,972) (1,429,475) (1,280,953)
Current Current Non-current
assets liahilities liabilities Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
111,865 - - 111,865
- (17,005) (288,838) {305,843)
- (22,170) (824,075) (846,245)
111,865 (39,175) (1,112913) (1.,040,223)
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2022

28.  Notes to the cash flow statement (continued)

Analysis of changes in debt

As at | September 2020

Drawdown of borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Interest paid on borrowings
Repayments of lease obligations
Lease liability interest paid
Repayment to associate
Acquisitions

Lease movements
Exchange movements
Accrued interest

Loan fee amortisation

As at 31 August 2021

Drawdown of borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Interest paid on borrowings
Repayments of lease obligations
Lease liability interest paid
Acquisitions

L.ease movements

Exchange movements

Accrued interest

Loan fee amortisation

As at 31 August 2022

Lease liability

Borrowings obligation Total
€000 €000 €000
(725343) (291,177) (1,016,520)
(113,487) - (113,487)

5,992 - 5,992
25911 - 25911

- 13,344 13,344

- 23,800 23,800

3,989 - 3,989
(13,687) (11,393) (25,080)
- (1,969) (1,969)
63 (14,648) (14,585)
(26,536) (23,800) (50,336)
(3,147) - (3.147)
(846,245) {305,843 {1,152,088)
(252,524) - (252,524)
28,506 - 28,500
27,677 - 27677

- 19,527 19,527

- 25,809 25,809
(10,380) (63,498) (73.878)
- (16,514) (16,514)
(1,463) (18,913) (20,376)
(29,511) (25,809) (55,320)
{4,266) - (4,266)
(1,088,206) (385,241) (1,473,447)
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

29, Contingent liabilities

In the normal course of business, the Group is, from time to time, subjected to legal actions, contractual disputes,
employment claims and tax assessments. [n the opinion of the Directors, the ultimate resclution of these matters will
not have a material adverse effect on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company and its subsidiaries have entered into a number of indemnifications, performance and financial
guarantees, in the normal course of business, which gives rise to obligations to pay amounts or fulfil obligations to
external parties should certain conditions not be met v specilied events occur. As at the date of this report, no matter
has come to the attention of the Group which indicates that any material outflow will occur as a result of these
indemnities and guarantees, and accordingly no provision has been recognised.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

30. Retirement benefit schemes

As at 31 As at 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
Defined benefit plan obligations 2,962 2,143

Background
The Group has both defined benefit and defined contribution retirement benefit plans.
Defined contribution schemes

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit schemes for all qualifying employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees. The income statement
charge in respect of defined contribution plans represents the contribution payable by the Group based upen a fixed
percentage of employees’ pay. The company has no exposure to investment and other experience risks.

The total cost charged to operating expenses of €5.5 million (2021: €4.8 million) represents contributions payable to
these schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a pension arrangement where participating members receive a pension benefit at retirement
determined by the plan rules dependent on factors such as age, years of service and pensionable pay and is not
dependent upon actual contributions made by the company or members. The income statement service cost in respect
of defined benefit plans represents the increase in the defined benefit liability arising from pension benefits earned by
active members in the current period. The Group is potentially exposed to investment and other experience risks and
may need to make additional contributions where it is estimated that the benefits will not be met from regular
contributions, expected investment income and assets held.

The Group has pension arrangements that are considered to meet the definition of a defined benefit plan in Switzerland,
Italy, Belgium and lndonesia. In Switzerland and Belgium, the plans are administered by separate funds that are legally
separated from the Group. The Trustees of the Pension Funds are composed of representatives from both employers
and employees. The Trustees of the Pension Funds are required by law and by their articles of association to act in the
interests of the Funds and of all relevant stakeholders in the plans, i.e. active employees, inactive employees, retirees,
employers. The Trustees of the Pension Funds are responsible for the investment policies with regard to the assets of
the funds.

No other post-retirement benefits are provided to these employees.
Switzerland

Employees in Switzerland are entitled to post retirement benefits based on retirement savings accrued until retirement
age {Men: 65 years; Women 64 years). The retirement benefits are provided by the accumulation of defined retirement
savings contributions with interest until retirement. At retirement, the employee may receive the benefit in lump sum
form, or may elect to receive a part of the benefit in the form of a pension payable for life with continuation to a spouse
or partner. As with all employee retirement plans in Switzerland the benefits are subject to certain interest, capital and
annuity guarantees. The insured salary is limited to 1200% of the state retirement benefit. The insured salary is the
difference between the current salary of the employee and 87.5% of the state retirement benefit.

96



Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

30. Retirement benefit schemes (continued)
Belgium

Employees in Belgium are entitled to a statutory minimum rate of return on the value of contributions made, which is
provided following retirement age (65 years).

The defined benefit schemes require contributions from employees in addition to the contributions made by the
Company.

Defined benefit schemes typically expose the company to actuarial risks such as: investment risk, interest rate risk,
longevity risk and salary risk. The risk relating to benefits to be paid to the dependents of scheme members is re-
insured by an external insurance company.

Italy

Pursuant to Article 2120 of the Ttalian Civil Code, post-employment benefits in ltaly (TFR) are due to employees on
termination of employment. Following pension law reform, for companies with greater than 50 employees, post-
employment benefits accruing since 1 January 2007 are mandatorily transferred to a supplementary pension fund or
the special treasury fund set up by INPS (the Italian social security institution) depending on which option the employee
has chosen. For companies with less than 50 employees, post-employment benetfits accruing since | January 2007 are
retained by the Company.

Post-employment benefits accruing since | January 2007 in companies with greater than 50 employees are considered
to be defined contribution plans, including when the employee has opted to transfer the benefits to the INPS treasury
fund. These benefits, determined in accordance with Italian Civil Code requirements, are not subjected to actuarial
valuation and are recognised as staff costs.

The Group’s liability for defined benefits owing to employees therefore relates to those vested up to 31 December
2006 (relevant for International School of Europe S.P.A only), and those benefits accrued in Italian schools with less
than 50 employees (International School of Italy S.r.l and Bergamo International Studies Srl).

Indonesia

Employees in Inspired’s Indonesia entities are entitled to certain employee benefits according to Indonesian law. When
an employee reaches pension age, the relevant employee will be entitled to payment discussed in Article 167 of Law
No. 13 of 2003 (the “Manpower Law™). Article 167 of the Manpower Law provides that when an employee reaches
pension age (and the employment is ended due to pension age), the relevant employee shall be entitled to a pension
package that is not less than 2 x severance pay; 1 x service pay, and } x right compensation pay, (together, “Statutory
Pension Package™).

The Company must ensure that retiring employees received a specified minimum level of benefits. The Company does
not use an external fund to manage its future pension liabilities. Instead, the Company would fund the pension benefit
directly upon the employee’s retirement.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements {continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

30. Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

Actuarial valuations

Investment risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated using a discount rate
determined by reference to high quality corporate bond yields; if the return on plan assets is
below this rate, it will create a plan deficit.

Interest risk

—
A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability but this will be partially
offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt investments.

Longevity risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the best
estimate of the mortality of plan participants both during and after their employment. An
increase in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the plan’s liability.

Salary risk

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated by reference to the fuiure
salaries of plan participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants will
increase the pian’s liability.

Actuarial valuations of the plan’s assets and the present value of the defined benefit liabilities were carried out at
31 August 2022 for all retirement benefit schemes.

The present value of the defined benefit liabilities, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were
measured using the projected unit credit method.

98




66

"WOIUL AAISURYRIAUI0D 10 JUSWRIEIS 2U) UL PIPR[2UL ST AN[IqRI] 11JUIq PIUTIAP JOU AU} JO JUWMNSLIWAL Y[ (g ION 295) SIS0D IDUBUL UM
papnyauL 95uadxa 183151UI 13U aY1 ylim ‘s3suadxa Funerado s JUSWIATRIS WIODUY SY] Ut PAPN|IUL USAq SEY (UOI[IW £ 13 1[Z0T) VoI £ 13 “1eak U} J0] (1500 914438) ssuadxa sy JO

9 LSY £eL F31 sy 8r 1eL SL1 ss07 J0 joud up pasiufooas
1500 1135u3q pauyap Jo sjusuodwo)
- - - - 1€ - - - PRISaA - 1S07) 331AI3G 158 JO uoIugooay
! £ 4 8 8 () € 8 (owoour)/ssusadxs 15819)u1 13N
- 6T - - - 5T - - 1509 UONBNSTULIPY
4 STy 1£L 9Ll 9 iy 8CL L91 1500 3DIALSS JUAINT}
0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003
EIsauopuj PUBLRZIMS wadpy e Esauopuf PUB[IAZIIAG winigpag Afe)]
1707 0T
'SMO][0] SB 218 SIWIYDS JJ3Uaq Paulyop 5ay] Jo 192d531 U1 JUAWAFE)S IWIOIUT 3y} Ul pasiuFooal sjunowy
%0°¢ %60 - %0 < %08 %0°1 - %5°¢ aseasour L1efes jo (s)ajel pajoadxyg
%6°L %l0 %80 %90 %8'L %0'C %S'T %TT {s}arm1 JUNGISI(T
:pasn suopduinsse A3y
% Yo % % % % % Y%
gisduopuy PUEBLIZIME wnidjag A1 eisauopuy PUBLIIZNAMS wnisfayg A
1202 (adir4

SMO[[0) SB 219M SUCHEN[RA [BLEENIOE AP Jo sesodind oy 1of pasn suondwnsse jedound sy j

(PanuIIuo?) SIWINPIS JYIUIY JUSWAIIY  *(E

7707 1SN8NY [€ PIpus 4834 3y} J0y
(Ponunuod) s3uduId)E)s [BIDULUL PIIEPI[OSUOD 3] 0) SHON

paywry sdutpjoy uoneanpy paatdsug



001

(16 - (0¥9) Tiy1) i) (82¥) (£g6) {ger ) uonedijgo
1J2U3q PUL;IP WOy FursLe AIjIae 18N
- (s1) - - - - - - Sur1a 19858 JO uonEddy
- STLO 9191 - - 0SL'6 S06°11 - s1asse ue[d Jo anjuA dte ]
(16 (01201 (9sz's1) @' S20)) (sL1°01) (z68°C1) {(get1) SUOEFNQO
11JaURqQ PAUAP JO INJeA JUISILJ

0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0007 0003

BISIOPU] PUBLIIZIMG wnidjag Aen BIS2UOpUf PURIIZIMG wn3ag Afenp

1202 70T
1$MO([0] S8 §t SAUIYSS 1IJoUaq WSWAIIIAT JJ2uaq pauap s) jo 193dsal wr suonediqo s, dnoin sy wouy Fursue 109Ys a0uB[Eq 2y} Ul PAPN[OUL JUNOWE Y[,
€l @sr'1) (z9) £9 (19) £LE LEE 44 AN[Iqey
12U POULJOP 12U JU) JO JUSWINSBIUITY
€l L) L6€ £9 {1¢) (116 (£8T°7) T suonduinsse [eiousul]
ui saBuByod pue spusugsnipe ouaradxs
woyy Swsue (sued)/sasso] [RlENIOY
- (087°1) (657) - - 8T’ p6sT - (9suadxa 15343)u1 19U U PIPN|IUL STUNOWE
Suipnjaxa)} sjasse uefd uo (uInjar)/ssof ay
0003 G003 0003 0043 0043 0003 0003 0003
BISIUOPU] PUBLIIZIIMG wnidpg Ale1f BISAUOPU] PUBIIZIIMG wm3pyg ey
1707 (A4S

SMO[[0] € 318 WO 2A15uaY2IdILE0D JO JUaLIAIEIS A1 Ul pIsIuF02al SJUNQIUE Y

(PanuIu0d) SAIWAYIS JYJAUIQ JAWAIRY (€

7707 ISN8NY € PIpud J84 3y} 1oy
(PaNunNuo0)) S)USWAIE)S [BIDURUL} PIIEPI[OSUGD 3] 03 SIION

pajwiry s3uipjoy woneanpy paiidsuy



101

{16) (o121} (957°51) (T (F11) 82101} (z687CT1) (cgF 1)
¢ - - - - - - -

- (67) 0t - - (5D ¢ -

9 - (1ze) (s) § - TPl ¥s1

- - 3/ - - - v -

- - 79 - - - Ly -

(n L9 - - €8 (rign - -

- {0se) - - - (00F) - -

§¢ STh 156 351 ¥ 16%°1 98/ 11%4
(07 981 {9.) (£5) 97 16 il (sL1)
(€1) (e (zr ) {8) () (o) 1) (8
(z1) (szp) (1¢4) f9L1) (L9 {(¥Z) (8zL) {91
{1v1) - - - (96) - - -

- - - - - - - (5%

- (£55%01) (Lo1°s1) (yzen (16) (oLLon) {95Z°s1) 1y

0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003

EIS3UOpu| PUBHIZIIME wnidfag Aren v1s3uopuj PUBLIIZEMY wndpyg Apeir

1702 07

uonediqo pyeuaq pauyap Juisor)

suefd yyauaq ur agueyn)

1500 AAURISIUILUPY

wawisnlpe [ersueuLy

W] SuIsLIE SASSO[ PUE SUieS [BLRNDY
uonesuqo

JLJaUaq pauLap ay) Ul papn[oul saxe]
511Jauaq Y51 JOJ swnjwiald aouBInsu]
$3WaYDs UBI210] UO 530UIIYIP aFuryoxg
syuedionted uepd wog) suonquo)
syasse ue[d wouyy pred syfausg
syuawisnipe souaadxa

wogy Fulsye sules/(sasso]) [eURMOY
1509 159493U]

1503 301AIIS JUDHND)

suaisiaodd juawAorduwa woly Jagsuel],
Jeak 2y1 Suump pasinboy

uonediqo jiyeusq pauryep SuruadQ

1SMO|[0) $B 21om Jeak oyl Ul suoneSijqo 11Jauaq pauljap Jo Jn[ea Juasald 9y} UL SJUSIIAOR

(PINUNUOD) SAWAYIS JJAUAQ JUAWAINRY  {§

7207 15NNy [€ PIPUL dBdA 3y} 10y
(PanuInu0d) S)UIWI}E]S [BIDUBUL} PIJEPI[OSUOI IY] 0} SIJON

pajywry sSurpjoy uoneanpy paaidsug



coi

- $TLOI 919v1 - - 05L°6 §06°11 - sjasse uefd Jo anjeA frg) SwIso))
- - (z9) - - - (9t) - $1Lj3USQ YSIT JO} Stuntwald ssurinsu]
- - (82) - - - (r3) - s1asse uejd woyy pred saxe],
- - (09 - - - (zg) - sjosse
uepd woyy pred s3suadxa aaneasUILIpY
- (742 (156) - - Qer' ) (981 - pred sijauag
. 05 - - - 00F - - swedisrued uepd woly suognqiIuo)
- 0s¢ 699 - - 0or 0TL - Jakojdwa 2y} wioly suCHNGLIUOY)
- rs) - - - 636 - - SWAYS u1210) HO 520URIRYIP SFurYONT
- 0871 65P - - (#3T'1) (P65°2) - (9suadxa 15a191UL 32U UL PIPN[IUL SHUNOWR
Surpnjoxa) sasse uejd uo uIma/(sso1) Ay T,
- LT 1| - - 11 [ - awoou] 1521
- 9616 e d! - - §TL01 919p( - s)asse ued jo anfea ey Sutuadg
0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003 0003
BISauOpu| PUBLIIZIAMG wm3[ag e rIS2UOpU] PUBLIIZIME wmapyg A€y
1207 e

ISMO]|0) SB 31am 1834 3y Ul 1asse ue[d JO an[eA 1B L) Ul SJUDUWAD

(PINUIIUO0Y) SAIWAYIS JYIUI JUAWINPY  “(I€

7707 1SNSNY J§ pIPud 1BIA 3y} 10§
(panunuod) S)UIWIIE]S [RIIUBULJ PIJEPI[OSUOI IY) 0} SIJON

payury s3uIp[oy uoneanpy paardsug



£01

“1eaf [EI0UUT 1%3U aY3 Fulnp S3WYS 31Jauaq PAUYSP Y} 0} (UOT[IW 7' [ : [Z0T) UOIIIW €' [3 JO SUOINQUIUOD SXEW 0) $10adxe dnoin ay1

(s1eak 71 :1Z07) steak ([ :SIoquiawl paijal e

(s123K g :[707) SJBSA § ISIQUIALI JANDE

101 PaIE[aI UOIRIND 3N} Ol PIPIAIPGNS 3q UBD Laquinu s1y [ (s1eaX ¢ 1 [707) 51894 6 s1 10§ porad Funuodal 213 Jo pua 21 18 uoleSI[qo 11jauaq 21 JO uoHeInp d5eione Ay,

"SI2QUISW WIYIS AU} JO SIUOWID[IIUI DY JO UOIOTIPAI B B (ons AJUIA]OS S 2103524 0] $2INSEIW IO E]
PINOYS SWAYDS AY] ISBD JBY) U *S)aSSe JUIIIJINS PlOY 10U SIOP WAYIS AU} SED UL SUONNGLIUOD [euclippe Avd 03 9[qRI[ J0U aJe SalIRIpisqns s, dnoiny 2y) ‘sjuswafliug 3y Jo 53S0 2]
guided wolj pedy *Aseres ajqeuoisuad Jo jusd jad paxy e Aed saakojdwry “siseq A[Jeak € U0 PaWIEd 39 0] p}aadxa SJUSILUS|UIUS 3Y) JO ISOD Y} pUNj p[noys safepisqns s dnoin ay

‘uomisod [BISUBUI JO JUSWSIES sip w1 pasiuFooal Aungei) uonedijqo 1jeusq paulysp 9yl Jurremares ur parjdde jeys se awes ay §1 yolym ‘poitad
Zunuodal 2y} JO pU2 34 18 POYISW 11Paid Jiun pagaalold 2yl Suisn pajenojes uaq sey uoed[qo 1J2Uaq PauLSp s Jo anjeA Juasald au ‘sIsAjeue ANAIISuas 3aoqe 2y Funuasaid uf

‘parejaLIod 9q ABW suondwnsse Jy) JO SWOS SE JAYIOUE 2UO JO UONR[OSI Ul
1920 pinosm suondwnsse up sadueys ays eyl A2Hun st 1 se woreSiqo 11jauag pauysp iy ul sFuRyD [eNioR oY1 Jo saneluasaldal 29 Jou Aew 3A0qe puasatd sisA[eue ANANISUIS AT

“(uot[rw 1703 *170T) B1S3UOPU] 10) UOL]|iw | ("0 Aq 3523153p PUEB (LOI[[IW 7003 1170T) A€ 10§ UOHIW S("0F Aq 3522199P “(UOI[[I §°(3 1 [Z0T)
wrd|ag 1oy UOII ¢*¢3 £q a5Ea100p (UOIfjIwt $703 1 [ T0T) PUBHSZIIMS 10J UOI|[IL §*03 AQ 9582102D pnom uoesi[qo jiyauaq paugep ayl 1eydiy stutod s1seq (S $1 9184 JUNOISIP Y1 }]

JUEISU0d suondumsse Jaypo (e Juiproy ajiysm ‘poliad Funiodas ays 1o pus 2y 18 Suikinaoo suonduinsse aanoadsal oy Jo sadueyd s|qissod
A|qBUOSEaI U0 PISE( PIUILLIAIP U3( SBY MO[3q $ISA[euE QIANTSUDS 3Y ] )l JUNOISIP U} ST uo1eS1[qo J1jauaq pauljap 31 JO UOIBUTULINAP au 10} uondumsse [elrenjor jueayudis sy,

- [B10],

- (pajonbun) Lueduios soueInsul Aq p[ay 1958y
- {paronbun) 218359 |BOY
- {pajonb) Aunbg
- {(patonb) awoosur paxij
- (paionbun} ja3IeW ASUOIN

- %0001 %001 - - %001 %001
- - %001 - - - %001
- %97 - - - %3¢ -
- 9%6¢ - - - %06¢ -
- YoFt - - - %tt -
- Q\Oﬂ - - - - -
BISIUOPU]  PUBIZMMS  wnid|ag Are1n BISIUOPU|  PUBIZIIMG  wWNIS[dg e
1207 Fard | I

:5M01[0] Sk are A10T9182 yo®a 10} porad Surmodar ay) Jo pus 2y 1k s1asse uejd jo senpea Jgy pue salzofeies solew sy |

(PANUNU0D) SIWIYIS JYIUI JUIRAAPY (¢

7707 1SNSny ¢ pAapud 1eask ay) 10

(panunuod) s)usaWI) LIS [EIDURUL] PI)EPIJOSU0D I} 0) SIJON

payuIy sSuip[oy uoneanpy paadsuy



Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

31. Deferred revenue
As at 31 August  As at 31 August
2022 2021
€000 €000
Arising from receipt of school fees in advance of services rendered 254,436 208.828
254,436 208,828
Current 252,972 208,765
Non-current 1,464 63
254,436 208,828

Of the deferred revenue at the start of the period, €208.8 million was recognised during the year (2021: €191.2
million), Deferred revenue has increased as a result of increased revenues in the year from both existing operations
and new acquisitions in the period.

32. Financial instruments

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s and the Company’s
risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities.

This note represents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the following risks; the objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk; and the Group’s management of capital.

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt {bank loans and borrowings offset by cash and cash equivalents)
and equity of the Group (comprising issued capital, reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests as
disclosed in Notes 23 to 26).

The Group’s capital management objective is to achieve an optimal weighted average cost of capital while continuing
to safeguard the Group’s ability to meet its liquidity requirements (including its commitments in respect of capital
expenditure); repay borrowings as they fall due; and continue as a going concern.

Categories of financial instruments
As at 31 August  As at 31 August

2022 2021
€000 €000
Financial assets
Cash 192,494 111,865
Loans and receivables at amortised cost 81,297 68,997
Derivative financial instruments 4,962 -
Financial liabilities
Payables and loans at amortised cost 1,219,458 944 900
Deferred consideration for a business combination 42,447 31,327
Lease liability 385,241 305,843
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

32.  Financial instruments (continued)
Financial risk management objectives

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and
interest rates (see below). Whilst much of the Group’s foreign exchange exposure is mitigated through local currency
denominated expenses providing a natural hedge to local currency denominated revenues, the Group considers the use
of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including interest
rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

Duyring the year ended 31 August 2022, the Group entered into foreign exchange instruments, to manage the foreign
exchange risk of the Euro translated value of consideration payable in Brazilian Real. The Group also purchased interest
rate swaps to fix the interest payable under its €1,045 million Term Loan B debt, up to 31 May 2024.

Foreign currency risk management

The Group operates internationally and is therefore affected by movements in foreign exchange rates. This is largely
through the retranslation of the Group’s foreign operations’ results and balances into Euros.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
reporting date are as follows. Note that monetary liabilities include lease liabilities, but right of use assets are not
included as they do not constitute monetary assets,

Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets
2022 2022 2021 2021
€000 €000 €000 €000
South African Rand 75,511 5,540 71,392 4,48
Kenyan Schilling 2,386 6,922 2,332 7,51
Pound Sterling 30,887 14,871 25,286 15,74
Swiss Franc 40,066 9,987 34,076 8,40
Colombian Peso 399 526 440 20
Peruvian Sol 4,000 4,811 3,489 3,72
Australian Dollar 23,493 3,862 23,279 3,75
Costa Rican Colon 4,018 2,808 3,594 1,78
Bahraini Dinar 42,762 8,295 32.434 8,36
Mexican Peso 6,602 4,396 6,153 2,77
New Zealand Dollar 19,247 10,960 24,953 9,77
Vietnamese Dong 13,257 27.497 12,473 21,80
Indonesian Rupiah 220 2,999 196 1,47
Panamanian Balboa 865 760 1,170 1,01
Omani Rial 4,485 3,180 1,670 2,11
Lebanese Pound - - 185 15
United Arab Emirates Dirham - - 16 1,24
United States Dollar 2,530 1,069 9
Brazilian Real 99,857 4,607 -
Moroccan Dirham 3,181 21 -
Egyptian Pound 10 39 -
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

32.  Financial instruments (continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10 per cent increase and decrease in Euro against the relevant
foreign currencies. 10 per cent is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates.

2022 2022
€000 €000
Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity

+10% -10% +10% -10%
Pound Sterling (117) 107 25,705 (23,368)
Swiss Franc 232 2t} 2,023 (1,840)
South African Rand 1,120 (1,019) 3,961 (3,601)
Kenyan Schilling 577 (525) 6,300 {5,727)
Colombian Peso 95 (86) 1,725 (1,568)
Peruvian Sol 359 (320) 2,541 (2.310)
Australian Dollar 861 (783) 3,044 (2,768)
Costa Rican Colon 261 {238) 605 (550)
Bahraini Dinar 864 (785) 10,208 (9,280)
New Zealand Dollar 2,722 (2,475) 34,432 (31,302)
Vietnamese Dong 1,072 {975) 22,362 (20,329)
Indonesian Rupiah (14) 13 1,100 (1,000)
Mexican Peso 326 (296) 795 (723)
Panamanian Balboa 47 (43) 2,273 (2,060)
Omaui Rial (136) 123 974 (886)
United Arab Emirates Dirham 37 (34) - -
United States Dollar (223) 202 (389) 354
Brazilian Real (3) 3 29,012 (26,374)
Moroccan Dirham (62) 57 410 (373)
Egyptian Pound (14) 13 (7) 6
Lebanese Pound (18} 16 - -
Total 7,986 (7,262) 147,074 (133,70%5)
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

32.  Financial instruments (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (continued)

2021 2021
€000 €000
Impact on profit before tax Impact on equity

+10% -10% +10% -10%
Pound Sterling 190 (173) 22,603 {20,603)
Swiss Franc 57 (52) 42 (38)
South African Rand 533 (485) 5,424 (4,931)
Kenyan Schilling 516 (469) 3,793 (3,448)
Colombian Peso 26 (23) (819) 745
Peruvian Sol 436 (396) 1,082 (984)
Australian Dollar 634 (377) 846 (769)
Costa Rican Colon 187 (170) (288) 262
Bahraini Dinar 650 (591) 4,266 (3,878)
New Zealand Dollar 2210 (2,009) 40,189 (36,535)
Vietnamese Dong 626 (570) 1,907 (1,733)
Indonesian Rupiah - - 811 (737)
Mexican Peso 116 (105) 202 (183)
Panamanian Balboa 9 (%) 50 (46)
Omani Rial 42 (38) (809) 736
Lebanese Pound 10 (%) 132 (120)
United Arab Emirates
Dirham (17 15 440 (400)
United States Dollar (48) 44 (33 30
Chinese Yuan 3 3) - -
Total 6,180 (5,6020) 79,898 (72,632)
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

32.  Financial instruments (continued)
Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk because entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest
rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings,
and by the use of interest rate swap contracts.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and
non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point increase or
decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internafly to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit before
tax for the year ended 31 August 2022 would decrease by €5.9 miifion (2021: decrease by €4.3 million). if interest
rates had been 100 basis points lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit before tax for the
year ended 31 August 2022 would increase by €0.]1 million (2021: increase by €0.1 million). This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings. The increase in profit before tax is limited due
to the existence of EURIBOR floors on EURO denominated debt.

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group.

Trade receivables consist of a widespread customer base. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed on the financial
condition of accounts receivable and assessment of the credit quality of each customer.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

Liquidity risk management

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, The Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit
lines.

The Group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The Company manages
liguidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities. Cash flow forecasts are prepared
and utilised borrowing facilities are monitored.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

32.  Financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk table

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities with
agreed repayment periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. The contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay.

31 August 2022

Non-interest bearing

Variable interest rate liabilities
Fixed interest rate liabilities
Lease liability

Total

31 August 2021

Non-interest bearing

Variable interest rate liabilities
Fixed interest rate liabilities
Lease liability

Total

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

3.1
1.0
9.4

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
%

3.1
0.8
7.8

Less than
1 year 1-5 years S+ years Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
132,499 20,517 - 153,016
65,243 1,198,082 8,282 1,271,607
1,275 3.188 - 4,463
55,312 216,127 505,186 776,625
254,329 1,437,914 513,468 2,205,711

Less than
1 year 1-5 years 5+ years Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
111,269 9,992 - 121,261
41,281 127,928 801,822 971,031
655 4,470 - 5,125
40,167 158,372 362,031 560,570
193,372 300,762 1,163,833 1,657,987

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for both non-derivative financial assets and liabilities
is subject to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the

reporting date.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

32. Financial instruments (continued)

The Group has access to financing facilities as described in Note 18. The Group expects to meet its other obligations
from operating cash flows and proceeds from financial assets.

Fair value measurements

The information set out below provides information about how the Group determines fair values of various financial
assets and financial liabilities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at
fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

* Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities;

s Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.c. derived from prices);
and

s Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2022

32. Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

2022
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Financial assets at FVTOCI
Interest rate swaps - 1,625 ~ 1,625
Financial assets at FVTPL
Foreign exchange rate swaps - 3,293 - 3,293
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Censideration to settle put options for non-controlling - - 20,137 20,137
interests
Contingent consideration - - 19,328 19,328
Total - - 39,465 39,465
q
2021 (restated)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
€000 €000 €000 €000

Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Consideration to settle put options for non-controlling - - 26,036 26,036
interests
Total - - 26,036 26,036

The 2021 comparative has been restated to reflect €2.2m of consideration for Bergamo previously not disclosed.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during any of the periods.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised

cost in the financial statements approximate to their fair values.

The movement in Level 3 Financial fiabilities at FVTPL is as follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year

Paid in the year

Arising on acquisition of subsidiary

Disposal of subsidiaries

Revaluation in the period

Foreign exchange translation gains and losses

Total

The 2021 comparative has been restated to reflect consideration to settle put options previously excluded.

Asat 31
Asat 31 August 2021
August 2022 (restated)
€000 €000
26,036 5,232
(20,099} {4,932)
32,747 22,961
(2,862) -
3,379 2,775
265 -
39,466 26,036
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

33.  Events after the balance sheet date
On 2 September 2022, the Group’s committed revolving credit facility was increased by €70 million to €155 million.

On 19 October 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of CPD Ballito School (Pty) Ltd, for consideration
of Rand 95.1 million (€5.3 miltion). The company owns the land and buildings used by the Reddam House Ballito
schoo! in South Africa.

On 15 November 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of My Online Schooling Ltd, a company
operating a global online school, for provisional consideration of £7.4 million (€8.5 million).

On 29 November 2022, the Employee Benefit Trust sold 709,902 H Ordinary shares for consideration of €0.3 million.

On 1 December 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Balboa Academy S.A, a company operating a
school in Panama, for USD 36.0 million (€36.3 million).

On 6 December 2022, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Escola Vitruviano Ltda, a company operating
a school in Brazil, for provisional consideration of BRL 120 million (€21.8 million).

On 14 December 2022, the Company issued 6,984 H Ordinary shares for consideration of €0.0 million.

34.  Related party transactions

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries which are related parties have been eliminated on
consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the Directors, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below in aggregate

for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 Refated Party Disclosures.

Year ended 31 Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021

€000 €000
Short-term employee benefits 3,468 918
Post-employment benefits 22 17

3,490 935

Aggregate Directors’ remuneration

The total amounts for Directors” remuneration in accordance with Schedule 5 to the Accounting Regulations were as
follows:

Year ended 31  Year ended 31
August 2022 August 2021

€000 €°000
Salaries, fees, bonuses and benefits in kind 3,468 518
Money purchase pension contributions 22 17
3,490 935

In 2022, two (2021: one} Directors were members of a money purchase scheme.

The highest paid director received short term employee benefits {fee, bonus) of €2.9 million (2021 - €0.5 million) and
money putchase pension contributions of €Nil (2021 - €Nil) for the year. Io addition, share based payment expense of
€0.4 million (2021 — €0.1 million) was recognised in the year in relation to shares that were issued to this director.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

34.  Related party transactions {continued)
Trading transactions

During the year, Group entities entered into the following trading transactions with related parties that are not members
of the Group.

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
Property rental paid to entities subject to significant influence by G Crawford 7,120 6,317
Property rental paid to entities of which G Crawford and N Nsouli are
beneficiaries 511 470
Ancillary school services provided by non-controlling interests - 278
Rent paid to non-controlling interests 252 -
Salary paid to non-controlling interests 405 201
Property rental paid to an entity which is controlled by an individual who has
significant influence over a subsidiary entity 4,082 3,732
Consulting services provided to an entity controlled by N Nsouli 3,000 3,000
15,370 13,998

Leans from related parties
The Group held the following receivables/{payables) due from/(to) non-controlling interests

As at 31 August  As at 31 August

2022 2021

€000 €000
Receivables 1,011 -
Payables (935) (842)

In addition to the above, as at 31 August 2022, the Group had a receivable due from an entity which is controlled by
an individual who has significant influence over a subsidiary entity of €0.2 million (2021 — €0.1 million).

No interest expense was incurred on these balances.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

35.  Operating lease arrangements

On 1 September 2019, the Group implemented IFRS 16 Leases, and consequently most leases previously categorised
as an operating lease have now been accounted for under IFRS 16 with the leases being recognised as a right of use
asset and a lease liability. These leases are disclosed in Note 14. The Group has elected to treat leases with a liability
of less than 12 months or leases where the underlying asset has a value of less than €5,000 as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

2022 2021
€000 €000
Short term and low value leases 1,263 2,159
36.  Capital commitments
2022 2021
€000 €000
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 686 -
Acquisition of business 23,012 -

On 6 May 2022 the Group agreed to acquire a school in Latin America for consideration of BRL 120.0 million subject
to receipt of various government approvals. Completion occurred on 6 December 2022.

37.  Ultimate controlling party or parent company

In the opinion of the Directors, there is not considered to be any one party that is the ultimate controlling party or
ultimate parent company of the Group.
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Inspired Education Heldings Limited

Company balance sheet
At 31 August 2022

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Current assets

Amounts owed by Group undertakings
Cash and bank balances

Trade and other receivables

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Current tax liabilities

Amounts due to Group undertakings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Share capitat

Share premium account
Retained losses

Other reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Notes
40

41
42

43

44

45

46
46
47

As at 31 August

As at 31 August

2022 2021
€000 €000
722,740 572,740
3 10
018 479
723,661 573,229
3,840 4,054
1,287 1,561
1,964 1,441
7,091 7,056
(1,430) (2.429)
(12) (12)
(36,928) (14,372)
(38,370) (16,813)
(31,279) (9,757)
692,382 563,472
692,382 563,472
11,017 10,992
717,007 575,993
(37,607) (23,373)
1,965 (140)
692,382 563,472

The Company reported a loss for the year ended 31 August 2022 of €14.2 million (2021: loss of €13.0 million).

The financial statements of Inspired Education Holdings Limited (registered number 10392529) were approved by

the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 16 December 2022.

They were signed on its behalf by:

N M Nsouli
Director
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Company statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 31 August 2022

Balance at 1 September 2020

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Share issue costs

Balance at 31 August 202}

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year
Issue of share capital

Share premium on issue of share capiial
Costs of share premium issue

Share buy-back

Share based payments

Balance at 31 August 2422

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share

Share  premium Retained Other
capital account earnings reserves Total
€000 €000 €000 €000 €600
10,992 575,993 (10,381) (1,250) 575,354
- - {12,992) - (12,992)
- - (12,992) - (12,992)
- - - 1,110 1,110
10,992 575,993 (23,373) (140) 563,472
- - (14,234) - {14,234)
- - (14,234) - (14,234)
458 - - - 458
- 153,939 - - 153,939
- (12,925) - - (12,925)
(433} - - 433 -
- - - 1,672 1,672
11,017 717,007 (37,607} 1,965 692,382
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements
For the year ended 31 August 2022

38.  Significant accounting policies

The separate financial statements of the company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. The company
meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) issued by the Financial
Reporting Council, Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial
Reporting Standard 101) Reduced Disclosure Framework as issued by the Financial Reporting Council incorporating
the Amendments to FRS 101 issued by the FRC in July 2015 and July 2016.

As permitted by FRS 101, the company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard
in relation to financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information in respect of certain
assets, presentation of a cash flow statement and certain related party transactions.

The Company also intends to take advantage of these exemptions in the financial statemnents to be issued in the following
year.

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. The principal accounting policies adopted are
the same as those set out in Note 3 to the consclidated financial statements, except as noted below.

- Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.
Adoption of new and revised standards

In the year ended 31 August 2022, the Company has applied a number of new standards issued by the I[nternational
Accounting Standards Board {IASB) that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after
1 January 2021. Their adoption has not had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these
financial statements. Refer to Note 3 for further detail.

Significant accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the course of preparing the financial statements, no significant judgements have been made in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies, other than those involving estimations (listed below), that have had a significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The key assumptions concerning the future. and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Carrving value of investments and other intangible assets

The Company tests annually whether investments have suffered any impairment. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units (CGUs) or groups of CGUs have been determined based on value in use calculations. The value in use
calculation requires the Directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from each investment and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate present value. Central costs are not allocated to individual investments, refer Note
40.

39.  Profit for the year

As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account
or statement of other comprehensive income for the year. The profit attributable to the Company is disclosed in the
footnote to the Company’s balance sheet.

The auditor’s remuneration for audit and other services is disclosed in Note 6(b) to the consolidated financial statements,

The Company has no employees.
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

40, lnvestment in subsidiaries

Cost
At 31 August 2021
Additional investment in subsidiary

At 31 August 2022
Net book value
At 31 August 2021

At 31 August 2022

€000

572,740
150,000

722,740

—_——

572,740

=

722,740

—_—
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Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)

For the year ended 31 August 2022

41, Property, plant and equipment

Cost

At 31 August 2021
Additions

At 31 August 2022

Depreciation
At | September 2020
Charge for the year

At 31 August 2021
Charge for the year

At 31 August 2022

Net book vatue
At 31 August 2022

At 31 August 2021

Fixtures and Computer
fittings equipment Total
€000 €000 €000
- 2 2
28 25 53
(i6) (i2) (28)
6) {7 (13)
(22) (19) (41
(5) (4 (9)
(27 (23) (50
1 2 3
6 4 10




Inspired Education Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 August 2022

42.  Intangible assets

Software
develiopment Other Total
€000 €000 €000

Cost
At 1 September 2020 652 787 1,439
Additions 177 - 177
Disposals (53) - (53)
At 31 August 2021 776 787 1,563
Additions 668 - 668
Disposals - (787) (787}
At 31 August 2022 1,444 - 1,444
Depreciation
Al 1 September 2020 (158) (219) (377)
Charge for the year (155) (568) (723)
Disposals 16 - 16
At 31 August 2021 (297) (787) (1,084)
Charge for the year {229) - (229)
Disposals - 787 787
At 31 August 2022 (526) - (526)
Net book value
At 31 August 2022 918 - 918
At 3] August 2021 479 - 479
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43.  Amounts owed by Group undertakings

As at 31 As at 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
Amaounts owed by Group undertakings 3,840 4,054

Amounts repayable from subsidiaries are short term and carry interest of between 0 per cent and 2,5 per cent per annum
charged on the outstanding loan balances.

44,  Trade and other payables

As at 31 As at 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
Trade payables and accruals 1,430 2,42%
45. Amounts due to Group undertakings
As at 31 As at 31
August 2022 August 2021
€000 €000
Amounts due © Group undertakings 36,928 14,372

Intercompany loans are held with various Group undertakings and are repayabie on demand. [nterest rates vary from
6.0% to 7.5%.

46.  Share capital and share premium account

The movements on these items are disclosed in Notes 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

47.  Retained earnings

€000
Balance at 1 September 2020 (10,381)
Net loss for the year (12,992}
Balance at 31 August 2021 (23,373)
Net loss for the year (14,234)
Balance at 31 August 2022 (37,607}
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Appendix I: Non IFRS measures

This section, which does not form part of the consolidated financial statements of the Company, makes reference to
various non-1FRS measures, which are defined below. All performance-based measures are presented to provide insight
into ongoing profit generation, both individually and relative to other companies.

EBITDA

EBITDA represents profit before tax, interest, depreciation, and amortisation.

Margin

Calculated as EBITDA as a percentage of Revenue.

EBITDA before highlighted items

Calculated as EBITDA excluding highlighted items. In the current year, highlighted items comprise:
- Pre-opening/start-up operating loss

- Acquisition and transaction related costs

- Bargain gain on acquisition

- Litigation costs

- FX gains / (losses) arising on financing and derivatives re: acquisitions and disposals
- Restructuring and integration costs

- Loss on disposal of subsidiary

Highlighted EBITDA Margin

Calculated as EBITDA before highlighted items as a percentage of Revenue.

Adjusted EBITDA

Calculated as EBITDA before highlighted items, less cash payments for leases.

Adjusted margin

Calculated as Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of Revenue.
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